
THIS CIRCULAR IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION

If you are in any doubt as to any aspect of this circular or as to the action to be taken, you should consult your stockbroker or other registered dealer in securities, bank manager, solicitor, professional accountant or other professional adviser.

If you have sold or transferred all your shares in TYK Medicines, Inc (浙江同源康醫藥股份有限公司), you should at once hand this circular and the accompanying form(s) of proxy to the purchaser or transferee or to the bank, stockbroker or other agent through whom the sale or transfer was effected for transmission to the purchaser or transferee.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents of this circular, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this circular.



TYK Medicines, Inc
浙江同源康醫藥股份有限公司

(A joint stock company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

(Stock Code: 2410)

- (1) PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION;**
(2) PROPOSED ABOLISHMENT OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS;
(3) PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE RULES OF PROCEDURE FOR THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS;
(4) PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE RULES OF PROCEDURE FOR
SHAREHOLDERS' GENERAL MEETINGS;
(5) PROPOSED ADOPTION OF THE 2025 H SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME;
AND
(6) NOTICE OF THE SECOND EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING
OF 2025

Capitalized terms used in this cover page shall have the same meanings as defined in this circular.

A letter from the Board is set out on pages 4 to 8 of this circular.

The Company will convene and hold the EGM at 8th Floor, Building T2, China Eastern Binjiang Center, No. 277 Longlan Road, Xuhui District, Shanghai, the PRC at 1:30 p.m. on Thursday, October 30, 2025. The notice of the EGM is set out on pages EGM-1 to EGM-2 of this circular. The proxy form for use at the EGM is enclosed herein, which was also published on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.tykmedicines.com).

Whether or not you intend to attend and/or vote at the EGM in person, you are requested to complete the proxy form in accordance with the instructions printed thereon and return the proxy form to the Company's H share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong (in case of holders of H Shares), or to the office of the Company in the PRC at 8th Floor, Building T2, China Eastern Binjiang Center, No. 277 Longlan Road, Xuhui District, Shanghai, the PRC (in case of holders of Unlisted Shares) as soon as possible and in any event, not later than 24 hours before the time appointed for holding the EGM (i.e. 1:30 p.m. on Wednesday, October 29, 2025) or any adjournment thereof (as the case may be). Completion and return of the proxy form will not preclude you from attending and voting in person at the EGM or any adjournment thereof (as the case may be) should you so wish, and in this case, the proxy form should be deemed to be revoked.

Reference to times and dates in this circular are to Hong Kong local times and dates.

October 14, 2025

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEFINITIONS	1
LETTER FROM THE BOARD	4
APPENDIX I – PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION	9
APPENDIX II – PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE RULES OF PROCEDURE FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ...	75
APPENDIX III – PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE RULES OF PROCEDURE FOR SHAREHOLDERS' GENERAL MEETINGS	92
APPENDIX IV – PRINCIPAL TERMS OF THE 2025 H SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME	112
NOTICE OF THE SECOND EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING OF 2025.	EGM-1

DEFINITIONS

In this circular, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

“2025 H Share Incentive Scheme” or “Scheme”	the 2025 H Share incentive scheme to be adopted by the Company
“Adoption Date”	the date on which the Scheme is approved and adopted by the Shareholders at the EGM
“Articles of Association”	the articles of association of the Company as amended from time to time
“Award”	an award granted under the Scheme by the Board or the Scheme Administrator to a Grantee, which may take the form of a Share Option or a Share Award
“Board”	the board of Directors
“Board of Supervisors”	the board of Supervisors
“Company”	TYK Medicines, Inc (浙江同源康醫藥股份有限公司), a joint stock company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability on November 2, 2017
“Director(s)”	the director(s) of the Company
“EGM”	the second extraordinary general meeting of 2025 of the Company or any adjournment thereof to be convened at 8th Floor, Building T2, China Eastern Binjiang Center, No. 277 Longlan Road, Xuhui District, Shanghai, the PRC at 1:30 p.m. on Thursday, October 30, 2025
“Eligible Participant(s)”	eligible participant(s) of the 2025 H Share Incentive Scheme pursuant to the Scheme Rules
“Grantee(s)”	Eligible Participant(s) approved for participation in the Scheme and who has been granted any Award pursuant to Scheme Rules
“H Share(s)”	ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company, with a nominal value of RMB1.00 each, which are subscribed for and traded in Hong Kong Dollars and listed on the Stock Exchange

DEFINITIONS

“Hong Kong”	the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
“Listing Rules”	the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
“PRC”	the People’s Republic of China, for the purpose of this circular, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
“PRC Company Law”	the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China (《中華人民共和國公司法》)
“RMB”	Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
“Scheme Administrator”	any committee of the Board or other person(s) to whom the Board delegates its authority in accordance with Scheme Rules
“Scheme Limit”	the total number of H Shares which may be granted under the Scheme, which shall consist of existing H Shares only and must not exceed 2% of the issued Shares as of the date of the adoption of the Scheme
“Scheme Rules”	the rules relating to the Scheme as amended from time to time
“Share(s)”	the ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company, including Unlisted Share(s) and H Share(s)
“Share Award”	an award which vests in the form of the right to purchase such number of Shares as the Board or the Scheme Administrator may determine at the purchase price in accordance with the terms of the Scheme Rules
“Share Option”	an award which vests in the form of the right to purchase such number of Shares as the Board or the Scheme Administrator may determine during the exercise period at the exercise price in accordance with the terms of the Scheme Rules
“Shareholder(s)”	holder(s) of the Share(s)
“Stock Exchange”	The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

DEFINITIONS

“Supervisor(s)”	supervisor(s) of the Company
“Trust”	any trust or similar arrangement established for the purposes of implementing and administering the Scheme pursuant to the Scheme Rules
“Trust Deed”	the deed constituting and/or governing any Trust or such other governing documents or custodian arrangements entered into between the Company and any Trustee as the Board or the Scheme Administrator considers appropriate
“Trustee”	any trustee or other third party appointed by the Company to hold H Shares under the Trust pursuant to the Trust Deed
“Unlisted Share(s)”	ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company, with a nominal value of RMB1.00 each, which is (are) not listed or traded on any stock exchange
“US\$”	United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
“%”	per cent

LETTER FROM THE BOARD



TYK Medicines, Inc 浙江同源康醫藥股份有限公司

(A joint stock company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

(Stock Code: 2410)

Executive Director:

Dr. Wu Yusheng (Chairperson and
chief executive officer)
吳豫生博士(董事長兼總裁)

Non-executive Directors:

Dr. Li Jun 李鈞博士
Dr. Gu Eric Hong 顧虹博士
Dr. Jiang Mingyu 蔣鳴昱博士
Mr. He Chao 何超先生
Dr. Zhu Xiangyang 朱向陽博士

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Dr. Leng Yuting 冷瑜婷博士
Dr. Xu Wenqing 許文青博士
Dr. Shen Xiuhua 沈秀華博士

Registered office and headquarters:

Room 1403-2, Floor 14, Tower A
Changxing World Trade Building
No. 1278 Mingzhu Road
Changxing Economic Development Zone
Huzhou
Zhejiang Province
PRC

Principal Place of Business in the PRC:

8th Floor, Building T2
China Eastern Binjiang Center
No. 277 Longlan Road
Xuhui District
Shanghai
PRC

Principal place of business in

Hong Kong:

Room 1901, 19/F, Lee Garden One
33 Hysan Avenue
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

October 14, 2025

To the Shareholders

Dear Sir or Madam,

- (1) PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION;
- (2) PROPOSED ABOLISHMENT OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS;
- (3) PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE RULES OF PROCEDURE FOR THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS;
- (4) PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE RULES OF PROCEDURE FOR
SHAREHOLDERS' GENERAL MEETINGS;
- (5) PROPOSED ADOPTION OF THE 2025 H SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME;
AND
- (6) NOTICE OF THE SECOND EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING
OF 2025

LETTER FROM THE BOARD

I. INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this circular is to provide you with information in respect of the resolutions to be proposed at the EGM to be held on Thursday, October 30, 2025 to enable you to make an informed decision on whether to vote for or against the proposed resolutions at the EGM. For the details of the proposed resolutions at the EGM, please also refer to the Notice of EGM.

II. PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION, PROPOSED ABOLISHMENT OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE RULES OF PROCEDURE FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE RULES OF PROCEDURE FOR SHAREHOLDERS' GENERAL MEETINGS

As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated August 31, 2025 and October 14, 2025, the Board proposed to make relevant amendments to the Articles of Association in order to (i) reform the organizational structure, strengthen the protection of the rights and interests of small and medium Shareholders, abolish the Board of Supervisors and provide that the Audit Committee of the Board shall exercise the powers and functions of the Board of Supervisors in line with revised Company Law of the PRC, and to (ii) reflect the change to the Company's registered share capital, number of board members and other house-keeping changes.

In addition, the Board also proposes corresponding amendments to the Company's Rules of Procedure for the Board of Directors and the Rules of Procedure for Shareholders' General Meetings to align with the Articles of Association as amended.

A special resolution is being proposed at the EGM to consider and approve the proposed amendments to the Articles of Association and the proposed abolishment of the Board of Supervisors. Ordinary resolutions are being proposed at the EGM to consider and approve the proposed amendments to the Rules of Procedure for the Board of Directors and the Rules of Procedure for Shareholders' General Meetings.

Full text of the Articles of Association, the Company's Rules of Procedure for the Board of Directors and the Rules of Procedure for Shareholders' General Meetings (with deletions shown with strike-through lines and newly added provisions shown with underlines) are set out in the Appendices to this circular.

LETTER FROM THE BOARD

III. PROPOSED ADOPTION OF THE 2025 H SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

Principal Terms of the 2025 H Share Incentive Scheme

In order to (a) provide the Company with a flexible means of remunerating, incentivizing, retaining, rewarding, compensating and/or providing benefits to Eligible Participants; (b) align the interests of Eligible Participants with those of the Company and Shareholders by providing such Eligible Participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company; and (c) encourage Eligible Participants to contribute to the long-term growth and profits of the Company and to enhance the value of the Company and its H Shares for the benefit of the Company and Shareholders as a whole, the Board proposes the adoption of the 2025 H Share Incentive Scheme and recommends it for the Shareholders' consideration and approval at the EGM.

A summary of the principal terms of the Scheme is set out in Appendix IV to this circular.

Implications of the Listing Rules

The Awards to be granted under the Scheme are funded by existing Shares only as referred to under Rule 17.01(1)(b) of the Listing Rules. The Scheme constitutes a share scheme under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and shall be subject to the applicable disclosure requirements under Rule 17.12 of the Listing Rules. The Scheme does not involve the issue of new Shares. Therefore, the adoption of the Scheme is not subject to approval of the Shareholders pursuant to the Listing Rules. Nonetheless, pursuant to the Articles of Association, the adoption of the Scheme is subject to the approval of the Shareholders.

Public Float

The Company must at all times ensure that the minimum public float requirement under the Listing Rules is maintained. The Trustee will be instructed not to conduct any on-market purchases of H Shares for the purpose of the Scheme if such purchases would result in the public float of the Company falling below the prescribed minimum as required by the Stock Exchange from time to time.

IV. EGM

The notice convening the EGM at 8th Floor, Building T2, China Eastern Binjiang Center, No. 277 Longlan Road, Xuhui District, Shanghai, the PRC on Thursday, October 30, 2025 at 1:30 p.m. is set out on pages EGM-1 to EGM-2 in this circular. For the purpose of determining the holders of H Shares entitled to attend and vote at the EGM, the register of members of H Shares will be closed on Friday, October 24, 2025 to Thursday, October 30, 2025 (both days inclusive). Holders of H Shares and holders of Unlisted Shares whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on Thursday, October 30, 2025 are entitled to attend and vote at the EGM. In order to qualify for the entitlement to attend and vote at the EGM, H Shareholders must lodge all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant H share certificates with the Company's H share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong by no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, October 23, 2025.

LETTER FROM THE BOARD

The proxy form for use at the EGM is enclosed in this circular and published on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.tykmedicines.com).

If you intend to attend the EGM by proxy, you are required to return the duly completed accompanying proxy form according to the instructions printed thereon. Shareholders who intend to attend the EGM by proxy are required to duly complete the proxy form and return the same to Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong (for holders of H Shares) or the office of the Company in the PRC at 8th Floor, Building T2, China Eastern Binjiang Center, No. 277 Longlan Road, Xuhui District, Shanghai, the PRC (for holders of Unlisted Shares) as soon as practicable but in any event not less than 24 hours before the time appointed for holding the EGM (i.e. 1:30 p.m. Wednesday, October 29, 2025), or any adjourned meeting thereof (as the case maybe). Completion and return of the proxy form will not preclude you from attending and voting in person at the EGM.

V. VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of Shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll except for purely procedural or administrative matters. The chairman of the EGM shall therefore demand that voting on the resolutions set out in the notice of the EGM be taken by way of poll pursuant to the existing Articles of Association.

VI. RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

This circular, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Listing Rules for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained in this circular is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this circular misleading.

VII. GENERAL

To the best of the Director's knowledge, information and belief, and according to applicable PRC law, regulations and regulatory requirements, none of the Shareholders are required to abstain from voting at the EGM.

VIII. RECOMMENDATION

The Directors consider that the proposed resolutions are in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. As such, the Directors recommend the Shareholders to vote in favour of the resolutions set forth in the notice.

LETTER FROM THE BOARD

IX. MISCELLANEOUS

Your attention is also drawn to the additional information set out in the appendix to this circular. Unless otherwise provided herein, the English text of this circular shall prevail over the Chinese text for the purpose of interpretation.

By order of the Board

TYK Medicines, Inc

浙江同源康醫藥股份有限公司

Dr. Wu Yusheng

Chairman, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

The English version of this Appendix is an unofficial translation of its Chinese version prepared for reference only.

The full text of the revised Articles of Association is set out as follows (with deletions shown with strike-through lines and newly added provisions shown with underlines):

TYK Medicines, Inc
浙江同源康醫藥股份有限公司

Articles of Association

~~June~~October 2025

CONTENTS

CHAPTER I	GENERAL PROVISIONS	13
CHAPTER II	BUSINESS PURPOSE AND SCOPE	15
CHAPTER III	SHARES	15
	Section 1 Issuance of Shares	15
	Section 2 Increase/Decrease and Repurchase of Share	17
	Section 3 Transfer of Shares	18
CHAPTER 4	SHAREHOLDERS AND SHAREHOLDERS' GENERAL MEETINGS	20
	Section 1 Shareholders	20
	Section 2 General Provisions for Shareholders' general meetings	26
	Section 3 Convening of Shareholders' general meetings	29
	Section 4 Proposals and Notices of Shareholders' general meetings	31
	Section 5 Convening of Shareholders' general meetings	33
	Section 6 Voting and Resolutions at Shareholders' general meetings	38
CHAPTER V	THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS	44
	Section 1 Directors	44
	Section 2 The Board of Directors	48
	<u>Section 3 Special Committees of the Board</u>	<u>54</u>

CHAPTER VI CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND OTHER SENIOR MANAGEMENT	54
CHAPTER VII SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE.....	56
Section 1 Supervisors	56
Section 2 Supervisory Committee	57
CHAPTER VII ^{VIII} FINANCIAL AND ACCOUNTING SYSTEM, DISTRIBUTION OF PROFITS AND AUDITING	59
Section I Financial and Accounting System.	59
Section II Internal Auditing.	64
Section III Appointment of Accounting Firm	65
CHAPTER VIII ^{IX} NOTICE AND ANNOUNCEMENT.....	65
CHAPTER IX ^X MERGER, DIVISION, CAPITAL INCREASE AND REDUCTION, DISSOLUTION AND LIQUIDATION.....	68
Section I Merger, Division, Capital Increase and Reduction	68
Section II Dissolution and Liquidation	70
CHAPTER XI AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION.....	72
CHAPTER XIX ^{XII} SUPPLEMENTARY PROVISIONS	73

Articles of Association of TYK Medicines, Inc

CHAPTER I GENERAL PROVISIONS

Article 1 In order to protect the legitimate rights and interests of TYK Medicines, Inc (hereinafter referred to as the “**Company**”), its shareholders, employees and creditors and to regulate the organization and activities of the Company, the Articles of Association are formulated in accordance with the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China (hereinafter referred to as the “**Company Law**”), the Securities Law of the People’s Republic of China (hereinafter referred to as the “**Securities Law**”), the Trial Administrative Measures of Overseas Securities Offering and Listing by Domestic Companies, the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (hereinafter referred to as the “**Hong Kong Listing Rules**”), and other relevant provisions of relevant laws, administrative regulations and regulatory documents by reference to the Guidelines for the Articles of Association of Listed Companies (hereinafter referred to as the “**Guidelines for the Articles of Association of Listed Companies**”).

Article 2 The Company is a joint stock limited company established in accordance with the Company Law and other relevant provisions.

The Company is a joint stock limited company sponsored by Tetranov Pharmaceutical (Zhengzhou) Co., Ltd. and Pivot Pharma Tech (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. in accordance with the law. The Company has been registered with the Administration for Market Regulation of Zhejiang Province and obtained the Business License, with the unified social credit code of 91330500MA2B3D0G3Q.

Article 3 Upon filing with the China Securities Regulatory Commission (hereinafter referred to as the “**CSRC**”) on July 4, 2024, the Company made an initial public offering of 192,586,173 overseas listed foreign shares (“**H Shares**”). The H Shares were listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “**Hong Kong Stock Exchange**”) on August 20, 2024.

Shares issued by a company but not listed or quoted on domestic or overseas stock exchanges are referred to as unlisted shares. After issuance and listing of shares overseas by the Company, shareholders holding unlisted shares of the Company may convert their unlisted shares into overseas listed shares that are listed for trading on overseas stock exchanges, as permitted by relevant laws, administrative regulations and departmental rules. The listing and trading of such shares on overseas stock exchanges shall also be subject to the regulatory procedures, regulations and requirements of the domestic and overseas stock markets. In the case of the conversion of the abovementioned unlisted shares into overseas listed shares that are listed for trading on overseas stock exchanges, it is not required to convene a shareholders’ general meeting to vote on the matter.

On December 18, 2024, after further filing with the China Securities Regulatory Commission, the Company converted the remaining 173,641,645 unlisted shares into overseas listed foreign shares. The Company has an aggregate of 366,227,818 H Shares in issue.

Article 4 The registered name of the Company

Chinese name: 浙江同源康醫藥股份有限公司.

English name: TYK Medicines, Inc.

Article 5 Domicile of the Company is Room 1403-2, 14th Floor, Tower A, Changxing World Trade Building, No. 1278 Mingzhu Road, Changxing Economic Development Zone, Huzhou, Zhejiang Province.

Article 6 The registered capital of the Company is RMB380.065818370:835818 million.

Article 7 The Company is a joint stock limited company with perpetual existence.

Article 8 The legal representative of the Company shall be the director who executes corporate affairs. If the director who acts as the legal representative resigns, he shall be deemed to have resigned as the legal representative at the same time. If the legal representative resigns, the company shall determine a new legal representative within 30 days from the date of the legal representative's resignation. The director who executes corporate affairs is subject to election by the Board.

Article 9 All assets of the Company shall be divided into shares of equal value. Shareholders bear responsibilities to the Company to the extent of the number of the shares they subscribe. The Company bears responsibilities for its debts with all its assets.

Article 10 Since the effective date, the Articles of Association shall constitute legally binding documents that regulate the organization and activities of the Company, the rights and obligations between the Company and its shareholders and between shareholders inter se, and shall be legally binding on the Company, its shareholders, Directors, ~~supervisors~~ and senior management. Pursuant to the Articles of Association, shareholders may sue shareholders; shareholders may sue Directors, ~~supervisors~~, the manager (referred to as chief executive officer of the Company, the same hereinafter) and other senior management of the Company; shareholders may sue the Company; and the Company may sue shareholders, Directors, ~~supervisors~~, the manager and other senior management.

Article 11 Other senior management, as referred to herein, shall be the chief executive officer, vice president, secretary to the Board of Directors, financial officer of the Company.

Article 12 The Company shall establish the Communist Party of China (the "CPC") organization and carry out CPC activities in accordance with the provisions of the Constitution of the CPC. The Company shall provide the CPC organization with necessary conditions for its activities.

CHAPTER II BUSINESS PURPOSE AND SCOPE

Article 13 The business purpose of the Company is to improve the level of operation and management, and build the Company into a leading antitumor innovative drug research and development enterprise based in China with global presence as its aim, and on the basis of continuous development and growth, the Company will create satisfactory economic returns for all shareholders and protect the legitimate rights and interests of all shareholders.

Article 14 Registered in accordance with the law, the Company's business scope is as follows: licensed items: entrusted drug production, drug production (for items subject to approval according to law, approvals from the relevant authorities must be obtained prior to the commencement of operation and the specific items shall be subject to the approval results), drug retail, drug wholesale. General items: medical research and experimental development; technical services, technical development, technical consultation, technical exchanges, technical transfer, technical promotion; information consulting services (excluding information consulting services that require licenses) (except for items subject to approval according to law, independently carry out business activities according to law with a business license).

CHAPTER III SHARES**Section 1 Issuance of Shares**

Article 15 The shares of the Company shall take the form of share certificates. The share certificates of the Company shall be in registered form. In addition to the matters required by the Company Law, the share certificates of the Company shall also contain other matters required by the stock exchange on which the shares are listed.

The overseas listed shares issued by the Company may take the form of overseas depository receipts or other derivative forms of shares in accordance with the laws of the place where the Company's shares are listed and the norms of securities registration and depository. Where the share capital of the Company includes shares that do not carry voting rights, the designation of such shares must include the words "no voting rights". Where the share capital includes shares with different voting rights, the designation of each class of shares, other than those with the most privileged voting rights, must include the words "restricted voting rights" or "limited voting rights". Changes in the rights attached to a class of shares shall be approved by the shareholders holding shares of the class to which the relevant rights are attached, by a majority of at least two-thirds of the votes of the shareholders present at the shareholders' general meeting of the class of shares and having the right to vote for the amendment of the rights of the class of shares.

Article 16 The Company shall issue shares in an open, fair and just manner, and each share of the same class shall rank pari passu with each other.

Shares of the same class in the same issue shall be listed under the same conditions and at the same price; any entity or individual shall pay the same price for each share subscribed.

Article 17 The shares issued by the Company shall have a nominal value denominated in Renminbi which shall be RMB1.00 for each share. For the shares issued by the Company, the domestic unlisted shares shall be collectively registered and deposited with the domestic securities registration and clearing institution, and the provisions of the overseas place where the shares are listed shall be applicable to the registration and settlement arrangements for overseas listed shares.

Article 18 The promoters of the Company are all the shareholders at the time of the establishment of the Company. The promoters, the number of shares they subscribed for, the proportion of subscription, the mode of contribution and the date of contribution are as follows:

No.	Promoters	Number of shares subscribed for (0'000)	Proportion of subscription (%)	Mode of contribution	Date of contribution
1	Tetranov Pharmaceutical (Zhengzhou) Co., Ltd.	10,000	90.9091	Patent	May 31, 2018
2	Pivot Pharma Tech (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.	1,000	9.0909	Currency	May 31, 2018
Total		11,000	100.0000	—	—

Article 19 ~~Upon completion of the IPO of H Shares, the share capital structure of the Company as at the listing date shall be 370,835,818 ordinary shares, comprising 178,249,645 unlisted shares and 192,586,173 H Shares; and the registered capital of the Company as at the listing date shall be RMB370.835818 million.~~ The Company has issued a total of 380,065,818 shares, all of which are ordinary shares, comprising 4,608,000 unlisted shares and 375,457,818 H Shares; and the registered capital of the Company shall be RMB380.065818 million.

Article 20 The Company or its subsidiaries (including the Company's affiliated enterprises) shall not provide any assistance in the form of gifts, advances, guarantees, compensation or loans and other forms to purchasers or prospective purchasers of shares of the Company, except for the implementation of the Company's employee stock option plans. For the interests of the Company, upon a resolution of the General Meeting, or a resolution of the Board of Directors in accordance with the authorization of the general meeting, the Company may provide financial assistance to other persons for the acquisition of shares in the Company or its parent company, provided that the cumulative total amount of the financial assistance shall not exceed 10% of the total issued share capital. Resolutions made by the Board of Directors shall be approved by more than two-thirds of all directors. In the event of any violation against the provisions of the preceding two stipulations which causes losses to the Company, the responsible directors, ~~supervisors~~ and senior management shall be liable for the compensation..

Section 2 Increase/Decrease and Repurchase of Share

Article 21 The Company may, based on its operation and development needs and in accordance with laws and regulations, increase its capital in the following ways by separate resolution of the shareholders' general meeting:

- (1) public offering of shares;
- (2) non-public offering of shares;
- (3) distributing bonus shares to its existing shareholders;
- (4) conversion of capital reserve into share capital;
- (5) other means approved by laws and administrative regulations, and approved by the CSRC and other regulatory authorities.

Article 22 The Company may reduce its registered capital. The Company shall reduce its registered capital in accordance with the Company Law, and other relevant regulations and the procedures stipulated in the Articles of Association.

Article 23 The Company shall not acquire its own shares, except in one of the following cases:

- (1) the Company decreases its registered capital;
- (2) merging with another company that holds shares in the Company;
- (3) using the shares for employee stock ownership plan or equity incentives;
- (4) acquiring shares held by shareholders (upon their request) who vote against any resolution proposed in any shareholders' general meeting on the merger or division of the Company;
- (5) using the shares for conversion of corporate bonds issued by the listed company that are convertible into shares;
- (6) it is necessary for the Company to safeguard its corporate value and shareholders' interests.

Article 24 The Company may acquire its own shares through open and centralized trading, or in any other manner recognized by laws, administrative regulations and the CSRC. Where the Company acquires its own shares under the circumstances set out in (3), (5) and (6) of paragraph 1 of Article 23 of the Articles of Association, it shall be done through open and centralized trading.

Article 25 Where the Company acquires its own shares under the circumstances set out in (1) and (2) of paragraph 1 of Article 23 of the Articles of Association, it shall be subject to the resolution of the shareholders' general meeting; where the Company acquires its own shares under the circumstances set out in (3), (5) and (6) of paragraph 1 of Article 23 of the Articles of Association, it shall be subject to the resolution of the Board meeting attended by more than two-thirds of the Directors in accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association or the authorization of the shareholders' general meeting.

After the Company acquires its own shares in accordance with the paragraph 1 of Article 23 of the Articles of Association, such shares shall be canceled within 10 days from the date of buy-back in the case of item (1); such shares shall be transferred or canceled within 6 months in the case of items (2) and (4); such shares shall not exceed 10% of the total shares of the Company in the case of items (3), (5) and (6), and shall be transferred or canceled within 3 years.

Where the Company acquires its own shares, it shall fulfill its information disclosure obligations in accordance with the Securities Law, the Hong Kong Listing Rules and relevant provisions of the CSRC and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Section 3 Transfer of Shares

Article 26 The shares of the Company may be transferred in accordance with the law.

All H Shares shall be transferred by way of written transfer instrument in standard or general form, or any other format acceptable to the Board of Directors (including the standard transfer format or form of transfer as prescribed from time to time by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange). A transfer instrument may only be signed by hand or by the valid seal of the company (where the transferor or transferee is a company). In the event that the transferor or transferee is a recognized clearing house as defined under the relevant ordinances in effect from time to time in the laws of Hong Kong or its agent, the transfer instrument may be signed by hand or in a machine-printed form. All the transfer instrument shall be kept at the legal address of the Company or an address designated by the Board of Directors from time to time.

Article 27 The Company shall not accept its own shares as the subject matter of a pledge.

Article 28 Shares issued prior to the public offering shall not be transferred within 1 year from the date of listing and trading of the Company's shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Directors, ~~supervisors~~ and senior management of the Company shall truthfully report to the Company their shareholdings in the Company and changes thereof and shall, at the time of their appointment, confirm not transferring more than 25% of the total number of shares of the Company held by them each year during their term of office. Shares of the Company held by them shall not be transferred within 1 year from the date of listing and trading of the Company's shares. The aforementioned personnel shall not transfer the shares of the Company held by them within half a year after they leave the Company.

Article 29 Any gains from the sale of shares of the Company by any Director, ~~supervisor~~, senior management or shareholders holding more than 5% of the shares of the Company, sell shares or other securities with an equity nature within six months after buying the same or buy shares or securities within 6 months after selling the same, the earnings arising therefrom shall belong to the Company and the Company's Board of Directors shall recover such earnings. However, the restriction shall not be applicable to any sale of shares by a securities company holding 5% or above of the Company's shares as a result of its underwriting and purchase of the untaken shares after offering and other circumstances stipulated by the CSRC.

The shares or other equity securities held by the Directors, ~~supervisors~~, senior management and natural person shareholders referred to in the preceding paragraph shall include the shares or other equity securities held by their spouse, parents, children, and those held through the accounts of others.

If the Board of Directors of the Company fails to comply with the provisions of the first paragraph of this Article, the shareholders shall have the right to request the Board of Directors to implement the provisions within 30 days. If the Board of Directors of the Company fails to carry out the enforcement within the aforesaid time limit, the shareholders shall have the right to directly file a lawsuit in the People's Court for the benefit of the Company in their own name.

If the Board of Directors of the Company fails to comply with the first paragraph of this Article, relevant responsible Directors shall bear joint liability pursuant to the laws.

CHAPTER 4 SHAREHOLDERS AND SHAREHOLDERS' GENERAL MEETINGS**Section 1 Shareholders**

Article 30 A shareholder shall enjoy rights and assume obligations based on the class shares held by him/her. Shareholders holding the same class of shares shall be entitled to equal rights and assume equal obligations.

Article 31 The Company shall maintain a register of shareholders for registering the following particulars, or conduct the registration of shareholders pursuant to the provisions of the laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules and the Hong Kong Listing Rules:

- (I) the name, address (residence), occupation or nature of each shareholder;
- (II) the class and number of shares held by each shareholder;
- (III) the amount paid or payable in respect of the shares held by each shareholder;
- (IV) the serial numbers of the shares held by each shareholder;
- (V) the date on which any shareholder registers as a shareholder;
- (VI) the date on which any shareholder ceases to be a shareholder.

The register of shareholders shall be sufficient evidence substantiating the shareholders' shareholding in the Company, except where there is evidence to the contrary. Subject to the Articles of Association and other applicable requirements and upon transfer of the Company's shares, the transferees of the shares will become the holders of such shares with their names (titles) being listed in the register of members.

The Company shall enter into a share custody agreement with the securities registration authority, regularly check the major shareholders' information and the changes in their shareholdings (including equity pledges), to keep up with the Company's shareholding structure. The transfer and assignment of shares must be registered in the register of shareholders. The Company may, in accordance with the understanding and agreements made between the competent securities authorities of the State Council and overseas securities regulatory authorities, maintain its original register of holders of the H Shares outside the PRC and appoint overseas agent(s) to manage such register. The original register of holders of H shares shall be maintained in Hong Kong and made available for inspection by shareholders, but the register of members of the Company may be closed (if necessary) in accordance with applicable laws and regulations and the requirements of securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed, including but not limited to the equivalent provisions of section 632 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Company shall maintain a duplicate of the register of holders of the H Shares at its domicile. The appointed overseas agent(s) shall ensure the consistency between the original register and the duplicate register of holders of the H Shares at all times. In case of any inconsistency between the original register and the duplicate register of holders of the H Shares, the original register shall prevail.

Article 32 If the Company convenes a shareholders' general meeting, distributes dividends, conducts liquidation or executes any other act requiring identification of shareholders, the convener of the Board meeting or shareholders' general meeting shall determine the share registration date, and shareholders registered at the close of share registration date are those entitled to the relevant interests.

Article 33 Shareholders of the Company shall be entitled to the following rights:

- (I) The rights to receive dividends and other forms of distribution in proportion to the number of shares held by them;
- (II) The rights to request, convene, chair, attend or appoint proxy to attend shareholders' general meetings and exercise the right to speak and corresponding voting rights (unless individual shareholders are required to abstain from voting on particular matters under the securities regulatory rules of the place where the shares of the Company are listed) in accordance with laws;
- (III) The rights to supervise the operation of the Company and to put forward proposals and raise inquiries;
- (IV) The rights to transfer, donate, or pledge shares held by them in accordance with laws, administrative regulations and the Articles of Association;
- (V) The rights to inspect the Articles of Association, the register of shareholders (including the register of holders of H shares), company bonds, minutes of shareholders' general meetings, resolutions of Board meetings, ~~resolutions of meetings of the Supervisory Committee~~ and financial and accounting reports;
- (VI) The rights to participate in the distribution of remaining assets of the Company corresponding to the number of shares held in the event of the termination or liquidation of the Company;
- (VII) The rights to demand the Company to acquire the shares with respect to the dissenting shareholders for any resolution adopted at the shareholders' general meeting on the merger or division of the Company;
- (VIII) Other rights under the laws, administrative regulations and the Articles of Association.

Any shareholder is required to abandon his/her voting on specific resolution, or any shareholder is restricted to vote for or against specific resolution, any vote of the shareholder or his/her proxy against the relevant requirement or restriction shall not be counted.

Article 34 Where shareholders request for inspection of the relevant information or demand for materials as mentioned in the preceding Articles of Association, they shall provide the Company with written documents evidencing the class and number of shares of the Company they hold. Upon verification of the shareholder's identity, the Company shall provide information requested by such shareholder.

Article 35 If a resolution of the shareholders' general meetings or board meetings of the Company violates a law or administrative regulation, shareholders have the right to petition People's Court to invalidate the resolution.

If the procedure of convening or the method of voting at the shareholders' general meetings or Board meetings of the Company violates the laws, administrative regulations or the Articles of Association, or if the content of a resolution is in breach of the Articles of Association, shareholders shall have the right to petition People's Court to revoke such resolution within 60 days from the date on which the resolution is adopted, unless there is only a slight defect in the procedure of convening or the method of voting at the shareholders' general meetings or Board meetings of the Company, which has no substantive impact on the resolution.

A shareholder who has not been notified to attend the shareholders' general meetings may petition People's Court to revoke such resolution within 60 days from the date on which he knows or should know that the resolution was made at the shareholders' general meetings; if the right of revocation is not exercised within one year from the date on which the resolution is made, the right of revocation shall be extinguished.

Article 36 In the event of any loss caused to the Company as a result of violation of laws or the regulations of the Articles of Association by the Directors or senior management other than members of the Audit Committee when performing their duties, any of the shareholders who holds 1% or more of the shares individually or jointly for no less than 180 consecutive days shall have the right to request the Audit Committee~~Supervisory Committee~~ in writing to initiate litigation before the People's Court. In the event of any loss caused to the Company as a result of violation of laws, administrative regulations or the Articles of Association by ~~the Supervisory Committee~~members of the Audit Committee when performing its duties, the said shareholders may request the board in writing to initiate litigation before the People's Court.

In the event that the Audit Committee~~Supervisory Committee~~ or the board dismisses the written request of any of the shareholders as specified in the preceding paragraph, or withholds from instituting litigation within 30 days of the receipt of the request, or that the failure to institute litigation immediately may otherwise cause irreparable damage to the interest of the Company in an urgent circumstance, such shareholder(s) as mentioned in the preceding paragraph shall have the right to initiate litigation before the People's Court in the name(s) of such shareholder(s) in the interest of the Company.

If a third party infringes on the lawful rights and interests of the Company, thereby causing the Company to sustain a loss, the shareholders mentioned in the first paragraph of this Article may initiate litigation before the People's Court pursuant to the preceding two paragraphs.

Article 37 In the event that any Director or senior management violates laws, administrative regulations or the Articles of Association to the detriment of the interest of the shareholders, the shareholders may initiate litigation before the People's Court.

Article 38 The shareholders of the Company shall assume the following obligations:

- (I) to abide by laws, administrative regulations and the Articles of Association;
- (II) to pay subscription monies according to the number of shares subscribed and the method of subscription;
- (III) not to withdraw their shares unless required by laws and regulations;
- (IV) not to abuse their shareholders' rights to damage the interests of the Company or other shareholders; not to abuse the independent legal person status of the Company and the limited liability of shareholders to damage the interests of the creditors of the Company; where any shareholder of the Company abuses the shareholders' rights and incur losses to the Company or other shareholders, such shareholder shall be liable for the damages; where shareholders of the Company abuse the Company's status as an independent legal person and the limited liability of shareholders for the purposes of evading repayment of debts, thereby materially impairing the interests of the creditors of the Company, such shareholders shall be jointly and severally liable for the debts owed by the Company;
- (V) other obligations imposed by laws, administrative regulations and the Company's Articles of Association.

Article 39 Where a shareholder holding 5% or more voting shares of the Company pledges any shares he/she holds, he/she shall report the same to the Company in writing on the day on which he/she pledges his/her shares.

Article 40 The controlling shareholder and the de facto controller of the Company shall not use their connected relationship to act in detriment to the interests of the Company. If they have violated such provision and caused damage to the Company, they shall be liable for such damages.

The controlling shareholder and the de facto controller of the Company shall have fiduciary duties towards the Company and public shareholders. The controlling shareholder shall exercise its rights as a contributor in strict compliance with the law. The controlling shareholder shall not impair the lawful interests of the Company and other shareholders through profit distribution, asset restructuring, external investment, appropriation of capital, offering loan guarantees and shall not make use of its controlling status against the interests of the Company and other shareholders.

Article 41 Any person who is a registered shareholder or who requests his/her name (full name) to be entered in the register of shareholders in respect of shares in the Company may, if his/her share certificate (the “**original certificate**”) relating to the shares is lost, is able to apply to the Company for a replacement share certificate in respect of such shares (the “**Relevant Shares**”). Application by a holder of domestic shares, who has lost his/her share certificate and applied for a replacement share certificate, shall be dealt with in accordance with the Company Law.

The issue of a replacement share certificate to a holder of overseas listed foreign shares of a company listed in Hong Kong, who has lost his/her share certificate, shall comply with the following requirements:

- (I) The applicant shall submit an application to the Company in a prescribed form accompanied by a notarial certificate or a statutory declaration stating the grounds upon which the application is made and the circumstances and evidence of the loss; and declaring that no other person is entitled to have his/her name entered in the register of shareholders in respect of the Relevant Shares;
- (II) The Company has not received any declaration made by any person other than the applicant declaring that his/her name shall be entered into the register of shareholders for such shares before deciding to issue a replacement share certificate;
- (III) The Company shall, if it intends to issue a replacement share certificate, publish a notice of its intention to do so at least once every thirty days within a period of ninety (90) consecutive days in such newspapers that complies with the relevant regulations as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors;
- (IV) The Company shall, prior to publication of its intention to issue a replacement new share certificate, deliver to the stock exchange on which its shares are listed, a copy of the notice to be published and may publish the notice upon receipt of confirmation from such stock exchange that the notice has been exhibited in the premises of the stock exchange. Such notice shall be displayed in the premises of the stock exchange for a period of ninety (90) days. In the case of an application which is made without the consent of the registered holder of the Relevant Shares, the Company shall deliver by mail to such shareholder a copy of the notice to be published;

- (V) If, by the expiration of the 90-day period referred to in paragraphs (III) and (IV) of this Article, the Company has not have received any objections from any person in respect of the issuance of the replacement share certificate, it may issue a replacement share certificate to the applicant pursuant to his/her application;
- (VI) Where the Company issues a replacement new share certificate pursuant to this Article, it shall forthwith cancel the original share certificate and document such cancellation and replacement in the register of shareholders accordingly;
- (VII) All expenses relating to the cancellation of an original share certificate and the issuance of a replacement new share certificate shall be borne by the applicant and the Company is entitled to refuse to take any action until reasonable security is provided by the applicant therefor.

Where the stock exchange in the place where the shares of the Company are listed has other provisions on the arrangement for the issuance of replacement share certificates, such provisions shall prevail.

Article 42 For holders of overseas listed foreign shares, when two or more persons are registered as the joint holders of any shares, they shall be deemed to be joint holders of the Relevant Shares, subject to the following provisions:

- (I) The Company shall not have more than four persons registered as joint holders of any share;
- (II) all joint holders in respect of any shares shall be severally and jointly liable to pay all sums due in respect thereof;
- (III) in the event of the death of one of the joint holders, only the surviving joint holder(s) shall be deemed as the person who have ownership of the Relevant Shares by the Company, but the Board of Directors has the power to require them to provide a certificate of death of the relevant shareholder as necessary for the purpose of modifying the relevant register of shareholders;
- (IV) in respect of any of the joint holders of any shares, only the joint shareholder whose name stands first in the register of shareholders shall be entitled to receive from the Company a share certificate for the Relevant Shares, or to receive notices from the Company, and any notice served on the said person shall be deemed to have been served on all the joint holders of the Relevant Shares. Any one of such joint shareholders may sign a proxy form provided that, if more than one joint shareholders are present in person or by proxy, the vote made by the preferred joint shareholder, whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted as the sole vote for the remaining joint shareholders. For this purpose, the priority of the shareholders must be determined by the order in which the names of the joint shareholders stand in relation to the Relevant Shares on the register of shareholders of the Company.

Any receipts issued by any joint shareholders in respect of any dividend, bonus or return of capital payable to such joint shareholders shall be deemed to be a valid receipt from such joint shareholders to the Company.

Section 2 General Provisions for Shareholders' general meetings

Article 43 The shareholders' general meeting shall be the authority power of the Company. It may exercise the following functions and powers in accordance with the law:

- (I) to elect and replace Directors ~~and supervisors~~ which are not appointed as representatives of the employees and to decide on the remuneration of relevant Directors ~~and supervisors~~;
- (II) to review and approve reports of the Board of Directors;
- ~~(III) to review and approve reports of the Supervisory Committee;~~
- ~~(IIIIV)~~ to review and approve the Company's plans for profit distribution and loss recovery;
- ~~(IVV)~~ to resolve on the increase or reduction of the Company's registered capital;
- ~~(VVH)~~ to resolve on the issuance of bonds by the Company;
- ~~(VIHH)~~ to resolve on the merger, division, dissolution, liquidation or change in corporate form of the Company;
- ~~(VIIHH)~~ to amend the Articles of Association;
- ~~(VIIIH)~~ to resolve on the appointment or dismissal of the accounting firms by the Company;
- ~~(IXX)~~ to review and approve the guarantees under the Article 44 of the Articles of Association;
- ~~(XXH)~~ to review the Company's purchases or disposal of any major assets within one year, of which the amount exceeds 30% of the Company's latest audited total assets;
- ~~(XIXH)~~ to review and approve matters relating to the changes in the use of proceeds;
- ~~(XIIHH)~~ to review share incentive schemes and employee share ownership schemes;
- ~~(XIIIIV)~~ to review issues which should be decided by the shareholders' general meeting as stipulated by laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules, securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed or the Articles of Association and other systems of the Company.

Except for Article (~~VIII~~X) which may authorize the Board of Directors to exercise its powers pursuant to Article ~~149~~¹⁶² of the Articles of Association, the powers of the shareholders' general meeting shall not be exercised by the board or other institutions and individuals through any form of authorization. Except for the above matters, the shareholders' general meeting may authorize or appoint the Board of Directors and/or its authorized person (s) to handle the matters authorized or entrusted by it, subject to the laws, regulations and mandatory provisions of the relevant laws, regulations and regulatory rules of the place where the Company's shares are listed.

Article 44 Where a guarantee is to be provided by the Company, it shall be submitted to the Board of Directors or the shareholders' general meeting for consideration.

The following external guarantees of the Company shall be considered and approved by the Board of Directors and submitted to the shareholders' general meeting for consideration and approval:

- (I) any guarantee to be provided after the total external guarantees of the Company and its controlling subsidiaries has exceeded 50% of the latest audited net assets;
- (II) any guarantee to be provided after the total external guarantees of the Company has exceeded 30% of the latest audited net assets;
- (III) any guarantee provided by the Company in excess of 30% of its latest audited total assets within one year;
- (IV) any guarantee to be provided to a subject whose debt-to-asset ratio exceeds 70%;
- (V) a single guarantee in an amount exceeding 10% of the latest audited net assets;
- (VI) any guarantee to be provided to shareholders, de facto controller and their connected parties;
- (VII) other guarantees required by applicable laws, regulations, regulatory documents, securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed, the Articles of Association and other rules of the Company to be considered and approved at the shareholders' general meeting.

Any guarantee that does not meet the above standards shall be considered and approved by the Board.

If the guarantee is a connected transaction, the requirements and restrictions for connected transactions set out in the Articles of Association shall apply the same.

The Company may establish a management system for guarantee, which shall be considered and approved by the shareholders' general meeting of the Company.

If the Company provides external guarantees in violation of the authority of the shareholders' general meeting and the Board of Directors to approve external guarantees and in violation of the approval authority and approval procedure, the Company shall hold relevant personnel accountable in accordance with relevant laws, regulations, regulatory documents, securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed and the Articles of Association.

Article 45 Shareholders' general meetings shall be divided into annual shareholders' general meetings and extraordinary shareholders' general meetings. The annual shareholders' general meeting shall be held once in each year, and be held within six months after the end of each financial year.

Article 46 An extraordinary shareholders' general meeting shall be convened within two months from the date of occurrence of any of the following events:

- (I) the number of Directors is less than the minimum number required by the Company Law or less than two-thirds of the number stipulated in the Articles of Association;
- (II) the unrecovered loss of the Company amounts to one-third of the Company's total paid-up share capital;
- (III) on a one share one vote basis, when shareholder(s) who individually or jointly holds 10% or more voting rights attached to the Company's share capital requests to convene such a meeting (the shareholdings shall be calculated as per the shares of the Company held by the shareholder on the date when such written request is made by such shareholder);
- (IV) the Board of Directors considers it necessary;
- (V) the ~~Audit Committee~~Supervisory Committee proposes to convene such a meeting;
- (VI) any other circumstances as provided for by laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules, securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed or the Articles of Association.

Article 47 The Company shall hold the shareholders' general meeting at the Company's place of domicile or such venue as specified in the notice of the shareholders' general meeting.

A meeting venue shall be established for the shareholders' general meeting, and meetings will take the form of physical meeting. The time and place for convening the on-site shareholders' general meeting shall be selected for the ease of participation by the shareholders. After a notice of a shareholders' general meeting is given, the venue of the live conference of the shareholders' general meeting shall not be changed. In case of actual needs to change, the convener shall notify all the shareholders and explain the reasons at least 2 business days prior to the date of the live conference.

On the premise of the lawfulness and validity of shareholders' general meetings, according to the laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules and securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed, the Company shall facilitate the participation of shareholders in shareholders' general meetings by providing Internet, video, telephone or other means. The shareholders shall be deemed as present when participating in the shareholders' general meeting via the above-mentioned methods.

Section 3 Convening of Shareholders' general meetings

Article 48 Shareholders' general meetings shall be convened by the Board. The publication of the notice of the shareholders' general meeting (including the supplemental notice and important information) shall comply with relevant laws and regulations and the securities regulatory rules of the place where the shares of the Company are listed.

Article 49 Independent non-executive Directors have the right to propose the Board of Directors to convene extraordinary shareholders' general meetings. The Board of Directors shall reply in writing regarding the acceptance or refusal to convene an extraordinary shareholders' general meeting within 10 days upon receiving the request in accordance with the requirements of laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules, securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed and the Articles of Association.

If the Board of Directors agrees to convene extraordinary shareholders' general meeting, notice convening the meeting shall be issued within 5 days after the Board of Directors resolved to do so. If the Board of Directors does not agree to convene the extraordinary shareholders' general meeting, reasons shall be provided and make an announcement.

Article 50 The ~~Audit Committee~~^{Supervisory Committee} has the right to propose the Board of Directors to convene an extraordinary shareholders' general meeting and such proposal shall be made by way of written request(s). The Board of Directors shall reply in writing regarding the acceptance or refusal to convene an extraordinary shareholders' general meeting within 10 days upon receiving the request in accordance with the requirements of the laws, administrative regulations, securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed and the Articles of Association.

If the Board of Directors agrees to convene an extraordinary shareholders' general meeting, notice convening the extraordinary shareholders' general meeting shall be issued within 5 days upon receiving the request. Should there be alterations to the original proposal in the notice, consent has to be obtained from the Audit Committee~~Supervisory Committee~~.

If the Board of Directors does not agree to convene the extraordinary shareholders' general meeting requested by the Audit Committee~~Supervisory Committee~~ or does not reply within 10 days upon receiving the request, the Board of Directors will be considered as unable or failed to perform the duty to convene shareholders' general meetings and the Audit Committee~~Supervisory Committee~~ may convene and preside over the meeting by itself.

Article 51 On the basis of one share one vote, shareholders individually or collectively holding 10% or more of the voting rights attached to the Company's share capital have the right to request the Board of Directors to convene an extraordinary shareholders' general meeting by way of written request(s). The Board of Directors shall reply in writing regarding the acceptance or refusal to convene an extraordinary shareholders' general meeting within 10 days upon receiving the request in accordance with the requirements of the laws, administrative regulations, securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed and the Articles of Association.

If the Board of Directors agrees to convene an extraordinary shareholders' general meeting, notice convening the meeting shall be issued within 5 days after the Board of Directors resolved to do so. If the Board of Directors makes alterations to the original proposal in the notice, consent has to be obtained from the related shareholders.

If the Board of Directors does not agree to convene the extraordinary shareholders' general meeting, or does not reply within 10 days upon receiving the request, shareholders individually or collectively holding 10% or more of voting rights attached to the Company's share capital have the right to request the Audit Committee~~Supervisory Committee~~ to convene an extraordinary shareholders' general meeting by way of written request(s).

If the Audit Committee~~Supervisory Committee~~ agrees to convene the extraordinary shareholders' general meeting, notice convening the meeting shall be issued within 5 days upon receiving the request. Should there be alterations to the original proposal in the notice, consent has to be obtained from the related shareholders.

If the Audit Committee~~Supervisory Committee~~ does not issue notice of the shareholders' general meeting within the required period, it will be regarded as that the Audit Committee~~Supervisory Committee~~ will not convene and preside over the shareholders' general meeting, and shareholders individually or collectively holding 10% or more of voting rights attached to the Company's share capital for 90 consecutive days have the right to convene and preside over the meeting by themselves.

Article 52 ~~The Audit Committee~~Supervisory Committee or shareholders, if decided to convene shareholders' general meetings on their own, shall inform the Board in writing and make filing with the securities regulatory authority of the place where the Company's shares are listed and the stock exchange where the Company's shares are listed in accordance with applicable regulations for record (if necessary).

Prior to the publication of announcement of the shareholders' resolutions, holding by the convening shareholders shall not be less than 10%.

~~The Audit Committee~~Supervisory Committee or shareholders convening the meeting shall provide relevant evidences to the securities regulatory authority of the place where the Company's shares are listed and the stock exchange where the Company's shares are listed in accordance with applicable regulations (if necessary) prior to issuing the notice of shareholders' general meeting and announcing resolutions of the shareholders' general meeting.

Article 53 Where a shareholders' general meeting is convened by the Audit Committee~~Supervisory Committee~~ or shareholders on its/their own, the Board and the secretary to the Board shall work in a cooperative manner. The Board shall provide the register of shareholders prepared on the date of record date.

Article 54 Where a shareholders' general meeting is convened by the Audit Committee~~Supervisory Committee~~ or shareholders on its/their own, the expenses necessary for the shareholders' general meeting shall be borne by the Company

Section 4 Proposals and Notices of Shareholders' general meetings

Article 55 The contents of the proposal shall fall within the functions and powers of the shareholders' general meeting and have specified subjects and specific matters to be resolved, and shall comply with the laws, administrative regulations and provisions of the Articles of Association.

Article 56 When the Company convenes a shareholders' general meeting, the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee~~Supervisory Committee~~ or on the basis of one share one vote, shareholders individually or collectively holding 1% or more of voting rights attached to the Company's share capital shall have the right to propose proposals.

Shareholders individually or collectively holding 1% or more of voting rights attached to the Company's share capital shall be entitled to propose provisional proposals and submit the same to the Board of Directors in writing 10 days prior to date of the meeting. Provisional proposals shall have clear agenda and specific resolutions. The Board of Directors shall dispatch a supplementary notice of the shareholders' general meeting and advise the contents of such provisional proposal within 2 days upon receipt of the proposal, unless the provisional proposal violates the laws, administrative regulations or provisions of the Articles of Association, or does not fall within the scope of the shareholders' general meeting. The Company shall not increase the shareholding of shareholders who submit the provisional proposal.

Unless otherwise required by the preceding paragraph, the convener shall not amend the proposals listed in the aforesaid notice or add any new proposals subsequent to the dispatch of a notice of the shareholders' general meeting.

The shareholders' general meeting shall not vote and adopt a resolution on any proposal that is not listed in the notice of meeting or that is inconsistent with Article 55 hereof.

Article 57 The convener shall give 21 days' prior notice of an annual shareholders' general meeting, and 15 days' prior notice of an extraordinary meeting by way of written announcement.

In determining the commencement date and the period, the date on which the meeting is held shall not be included.

After the notice of a shareholders' meeting is made and before the meeting is convened, the convener may, in accordance with the Company Law and relevant provisions, issue a second notice.

Article 58 The notice of a shareholders' general meeting shall at least include the following:

- (I) the time, venue and duration of the meeting;
- (II) the matters and proposals submitted to the meeting;
- (III) a conspicuous statement that all shareholders are entitled to attend the shareholders' general meeting and vote, and the shareholder may appoint a proxy in writing to attend the meeting and vote on his/her behalf and that a proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company;
- (IV) the record date for determining the shareholders who are entitled to attend the shareholders' general meeting;
- (V) the names and telephone numbers of the standing contact persons for the meeting.

The notice and the supplementary notice of the shareholders' general meeting shall adequately and completely disclose the specific contents of all proposals, and all the materials or explanations necessary for the shareholders to make reasonable judgments on the matters to be discussed. If the matters to be discussed require opinions from independent non-executive Directors, the opinions and reasons of independent non-executive Directors will be disclosed at the time when the notice of the shareholders' general meeting or the supplementary notice is issued.

Article 59 When the shareholders' general meeting intends to discuss the election of Directors ~~and supervisors~~, the notice of the meeting shall fully disclose the details of the candidates for Directors ~~and supervisors~~, including, as a minimum, the following contents:

- (I) personal particulars such as education background, working experience and any concurrent positions;
- (II) whether the candidate has any connected relationship with the Company or its controlling shareholder and de facto controller;
- (III) disclose the number of shares of the Company held by the candidate;
- (IV) any penalties imposed by CSRC and other relevant authorities and punishments imposed by the stock exchanges;
- (V) other information required by the relevant laws, administrative regulations, the CSRC and the stock exchanges where the Company's shares are listed.

Unless a Director ~~or supervisor~~ is elected via the cumulative voting system, each candidate for Director ~~or supervisor~~ shall be proposed via a single proposal.

Article 60 Subsequent to the dispatch of a notice of the shareholders' general meeting, the shareholders' general meeting shall not be postponed or cancelled without proper reasons, and the proposals set out in the notice of the shareholders' general meeting shall not be withdrawn. Once the meeting is postponed or cancelled, the convener shall make an announcement, and give reasons thereof at least 2 business days prior to the original date of the meeting.

Section 5 Convening of Shareholders' general meetings

Article 61 The Board of Directors and other conveners shall take necessary measures to ensure the proper order of the shareholders' general meeting. They shall take measures to stop the conducts that interfere with the shareholders' general meeting, seek trouble and infringing on the legal rights and interests of the shareholders, and report such act to the relevant authorities for investigation.

Article 62 All shareholders recorded in the register as at the shareholding record date or their proxies shall have the right to attend the shareholders' general meeting and exercise the voting rights in accordance with the relevant provisions of laws, regulations, securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed and the Articles of Association.

Article 63 Shareholders may attend the shareholders' general meeting in person, and also may appoint one or more persons (who may not necessarily be shareholders) as his/her proxy (proxies) to attend and vote on his/her behalf. Natural person shareholders attending the meeting in person shall present their corresponding stock account card (if applicable, the same below), personal identity cards or other valid proof or evidence of their identities. Proxies attending the meeting shall present their personal identity cards, originals of the written proxy form and their corresponding stock account card.

Where such shareholder is a recognized clearing house determined by relevant regulations formulated from time to time in Hong Kong (or its nominee), such shareholder shall be entitled to appoint one or more persons as it deems fit to act on its behalf at any shareholders' general meeting or any other class meetings and meeting of creditors, provided in the event of more than one person are authorized, the power of attorney shall specify the number and class of shares represented by each person so authorized. Such persons so authorized shall be entitled to exercise the rights on behalf of the recognized clearing house (or its nominee) without presenting evidence of their shareholding, notarized authorization and/or further proof showing their due authorization) as if they were individual shareholders of the Company, and shall be entitled to statutory rights equal to those of other shareholders, including the right to speak and vote.

A corporate shareholder should attend the meeting by its legal representative or a proxy appointed by the legal representative. If a corporate shareholder has appointed a proxy to attend the meeting, he/she is deemed to be present in person. The legal representative attending the meeting shall present his/her identity card, valid certificate evidencing his/her capacity as a legal representative and the relevant share certificate; if a proxy is appointed to attend the meeting, the proxy shall produce his/her identity card, the original copy of the written proxy form duly issued by the legal representative of the corporate shareholder (with the seal of the corporate shareholder being affixed thereon) and the relevant share certificate. A corporate shareholder may execute an instrument appointing a proxy by its duly authorized officer.

An unincorporated organization shareholder shall attend the meeting by its responsible person (in case the unincorporated organization shareholder is a partnership, where the executive partner is a natural person, the responsible person shall be its executive partner, where the executive partner is a legal person or an unincorporated organization, the responsible person shall be its appointed representative of the executive partner, the same below) or the proxy appointed by the responsible person. The responsible person attending the meeting shall produce his/her identity card, valid certificate evidencing his/her qualification as the responsible person and the relevant share certificate; if a proxy is appointed to attend the meeting, the proxy shall produce his/her identity card, the original copy of the written proxy form duly issued by the responsible person of the unincorporated organization shareholder (and shall be affixed with the official seal of the unincorporated organization shareholder) and the relevant share certificate.

Article 64 Any shareholder who is entitled to attend the shareholders' general meeting has the right to appoint one or more persons (who may not necessarily be shareholders) as his/her proxy (proxies) to attend and vote on his/her behalf. The proxy form issued by a shareholder to authorize other persons to attend the shareholders' general meeting shall clearly state the followings:

- (I) The names of the proxies;
- (II) Whether the proxies have the right to vote;
- (III) Instructions to vote for, against or abstain from voting on each of the items in the agenda of the meeting;
- (IV) The signing date and the effective period of the authorization letter;
- (V) Signature (or seal) of the shareholders who appoint the proxies.

Article 65 Such proxy form shall contain a statement that in absence of instructions by the shareholders, whether his/her proxy may vote at his/her discretion.

Article 66 A power of attorney shall be deposited at the domicile of the Company or such other places designated in the notice of meeting not less than 24 hours before the time for convening the meeting at which the proxy is appointed to vote or the time appointed for the voting. Where the proxy form is signed by a person authorized by the appointing shareholder, the power of attorney or other documents authorizing such person to sign the proxy form shall be notarized. A notarized power of attorney or other authorization documents, together with the proxy form, shall be lodged at the domicile place of the Company or at other places specified in the notice of meeting.

If the appointer is an incorporated or an unincorporated organization, the legal representative/person in charge or such person who is authorized by the resolution of its Board or other governing body to act as its representative may attend the shareholders' general meeting of the Company.

Article 67 A registration record for attendants at the meeting shall be compiled by the Company. The registration record shall contain items including but not limited to the names of attendants (or names of organizations), identity card numbers, residential addresses, the number of shares held or representing the voting rights and names (or name of organizations) of the proxies.

Article 68 The convener and the legal counsel (if applicable) shall examine legality of the shareholders' qualifications according to the register of members provided by the securities registrations and clearing organizations. The names of shareholders and the number of shares with voting rights shall be registered. The registration at the meeting shall terminate before the chairperson of the meeting announces the number of shareholders and proxies attending the meeting and the total number of the shares held with voting rights.

Article 69 All Directors,~~supervisors~~ and secretary of the Board shall attend shareholders' general meetings of the Company, and the chief executive officer and other senior management shall be present at the meetings.

Article 70 The shareholders' general meeting shall be presided over by the chairperson of the Board of Directors. When the chairperson of the Board of Directors is unable or fails to perform his/her duty, a Director jointly elected by a simple majority of the Directors shall preside over the meeting.

At a shareholders' general meeting convened by the Audit Committee~~Supervisory Committee~~, the convener of the Audit Committee~~chairperson of Supervisory Committee~~ shall preside over the meeting. When the convener of the Audit Committee~~chairperson of Supervisory Committee~~ is unable or fails to perform his/her duty, a member of the Audit Committee~~supervisor~~ jointly elected by a simple majority of members of the Audit Committee~~supervisor~~ shall preside over the meeting.

If a shareholders' general meeting is convened by shareholders, the convener shall elect a representative to preside over the meeting.

When a shareholders' general meeting is held, if the chairperson of the meeting violates the rules of procedure, making continuance of the meeting impossible, with the consent of the shareholders holding more than half of the voting rights present at the meeting, the meeting may elect a person to serve as the chairperson of the meeting and the meeting shall continue.

Article 71 The Company shall formulate rules of procedure for the shareholders' general meeting and specify the convening and voting procedures of the shareholders' general meeting, including notification, registration, consideration of proposals, voting, counting of votes, announcement of voting results, formation of resolutions of the meeting, minutes of the meeting and signing, as well as the principle of authorization of the shareholders' general meeting to the Board of Directors. The content of authorization shall be clear and specific. The rules of procedure for the shareholders' general meeting shall be annexed to the Articles of Association and shall be prepared by the Board of Directors and approved by the shareholders' general meeting.

Article 72 At the annual shareholders' general meeting, the Board of Directors~~and the Supervisory Committee~~ shall make report on their works in the past year to the shareholders' general meeting. Each independent non-executive Director shall also report on their duty performance.

Article 73 The Directors,~~supervisors~~ and senior management officers shall provide explanations and statements relating to the queries and suggestions put forward by the shareholders at the shareholders' general meeting.

Article 74 The chairperson of the meeting shall declare the number of attending shareholders and proxies and the total number of shares with voting rights they hold prior to voting. To determine the number of shareholders and proxies present and the total number of shares with voting rights they hold, the meeting register shall prevail.

Article 75 The shareholders' general meeting shall have meeting minutes, and secretary to the Board of Directors shall be responsible for the meeting minutes. The meeting minutes shall contain the following contents:

- (I) the time, venue of, and the agenda for, the meeting, and the name or title of the convener;
- (II) names of the chairperson of the meeting and the Directors,~~supervisors~~, chief executive officer and other senior management officers attending the meeting or attending the meeting as non-voting attendee;
- (III) the number of shareholders and proxies present at the meeting, the total number of voting shares held and their respective proportions in the total number of shares of the Company;
- (IV) the consideration process, summaries of speeches and voting result for each proposal;
- (V) the inquiries or suggestions of the shareholders and the corresponding answers or explanations;
- (VI) names of the legal counsel (if any), counting officer and monitoring officer;
- (VII) other contents that should be included in the meeting minutes as required by the Articles of Association.

Article 76 The convener shall guarantee the authenticity, accuracy and integrity of the contents of the meeting minutes. The Directors,~~supervisors~~, secretary to the Board of Directors, convener or their representatives who attended the meeting, and the chairperson of the meeting shall sign the meeting minutes. The meeting minutes shall be maintained together with the registration record of the shareholders present, the power of attorney for proxy attendance, and the valid documents relating to the voting over network and other forms of voting for a period of less than 10 years.

Article 77 The convener shall ensure that the shareholders' general meeting is held continuously until the final resolution is made. If the shareholders' general meeting is suspended or the resolution cannot be made due to force majeure or other special causes, necessary measures shall be taken to resume the shareholders' general meeting as soon as possible or directly terminate the shareholders' general meeting, and make announcements and/or reports in a timely manner in accordance with laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules, normative documents and securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed.

Section 6 Voting and Resolutions at Shareholders' general meetings

Article 78 The resolutions of a shareholders' general meeting are classified into ordinary resolutions and special resolutions.

Ordinary resolutions of the shareholders' general meeting shall be passed by votes representing more than half of the voting rights held by the shareholders (including proxies) present at the meeting.

Special resolutions of the shareholders' general meeting shall be passed by votes representing more than two-thirds of the voting rights held by the shareholders (including proxies) who are present at the meeting.

Article 79 The following matters shall be passed by way of ordinary resolution of the shareholders' general meeting:

- (I) work reports of the Board of Directors~~and the Supervisory Committee~~;
- (II) profit distribution plan and loss make-up plan formulated by the Board;
- (III) appointment or dismissal of the members of the Board of Directors~~and Supervisory Committee~~, remuneration and payment methods thereof;
- (IV) annual report of the Company;

- (V) resolution on the employment, dismissal of the Company's accounting firm and determination of its remuneration (or determination method);
- (VI) any other matters other than those which are required by the laws, administrative regulations, securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed or by the Articles of Association and the rules of procedure for the shareholders' general meeting to be passed by way of special resolution.

Article 80 The following matters shall be passed by way of special resolution of the shareholders' general meeting:

- (I) the increase or reduction of the Company's registered capital;
- (II) the division, splitting, merger, dissolution and liquidation of the Company;
- (III) the amendment to the Articles of Association;
- (IV) the purchase and disposal of material assets by the Company within one year, or a guarantee amount exceeding 30% of the audited total assets in the most recent period of the Company;
- (V) equity incentive scheme;
- (VI) any other matter as specified by the laws, administrative regulations, securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed and the Articles of Association which, considered by the shareholders at a shareholders' general meeting and resolved by way of ordinary resolution, may have a material impact on the Company and shall be adopted by way of special resolution.

Article 81 Shareholders (including proxies) shall exercise their voting rights by the number of voting shares they represent, and each share shall carry one voting right.

Votes for medium and small investors shall be separately counted when any material matter affecting their interests is considered at the shareholders' general meeting. The results of separate vote counting shall be disclosed publicly in a timely manner according to relevant laws, administrative regulations and securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed.

Shares held by the Company shall not carry any voting right and shall not be counted into the total shares with voting rights represented by shareholders attending the shareholders' general meeting.

If a shareholder's purchase of the Company's voting shares violates the provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 of Article 63 of the Securities Law, such shares in excess of the prescribed proportion shall not exercise his/her voting rights within the period of 36 months after the purchase, and shall not be counted in the total number of voting shares represented at the shareholders' general meeting.

The Board, independent non-executive Directors, shareholders holding more than 1% of the voting shares or investor protection agency established in accordance with the laws, administrative regulations or provisions of the CSRC may collect votes from shareholders. Information including the specific voting preference shall be fully provided to the shareholders for whom voting rights are being solicited. Consideration or de facto consideration for soliciting shareholders' voting rights is prohibited. Apart from statutory conditions, the Company shall not impose any minimum shareholding limitation for soliciting voting rights.

Article 82 Where matters relating to connected transactions are deliberated at the shareholders' general meeting, the connected shareholders shall avoid voting, and the shares carrying the voting rights they represent shall not be counted in the total number of valid votes. The announcement of resolutions of the shareholders' general meeting should fully disclose the voting status of the non-connected shareholders (subject to the request of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange).

Before the shareholders' general meeting considers matters relating to connected transactions, the Company shall determine the scope of connected shareholders in accordance with relevant laws, regulations, normative documents and securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed. Connected shareholders or their proxies may attend the shareholders' general meeting, and may clarify their views to the shareholders in accordance with the procedures of the meeting.

Where the shareholders' general meeting votes matters relating to connected transactions, connected shareholders shall abstain from voting. If connected shareholders fail to abstain from voting, other shareholders attending the meeting shall have the right to request them to abstain from voting. After connected shareholders have abstained from voting, other shareholders shall vote according to their voting rights and pass the corresponding resolutions in accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association. The chairperson of the shareholders' general meeting shall inform the connected shareholders of the voting avoidance and voting procedures, which shall be recorded in the meeting minutes.

In order to be valid, the resolutions made at the shareholders' general meeting on matters relating to connected transactions shall be passed by more than half of the votes cast by the non-connected shareholders attending the shareholders' general meeting. However, in order to be valid, in the event of such connected transaction involving matters that need to be passed by special resolution as stipulated in the Articles of Association, the resolutions of the shareholders' general meeting must be passed by more than two-thirds of the voting rights held by the non-connected shareholders attending the shareholders' general meeting.

Article 83 The Company shall, on the premise of ensuring that the shareholders' general meeting is legal and effective, through various methods and channels, provide convenience for shareholders to attend shareholders' general meetings by whatever means.

Article 84 Unless the Company is in a crisis or under other special circumstances, the Company shall not, without the approval by special resolutions at a shareholders' general meeting, enter into contracts with persons other than Directors, the chief executive officer and other senior management officers granting that person responsibility for the management of all or part of the Company's material business.

Article 85 The list of candidates for Director ~~and supervisor~~ shall be proposed to the shareholders' general meeting for voting.

The ways and procedures for nominating Directors ~~and supervisors~~ of the Company are:

- (I) When a re-election of the Board of Directors or an additional or replacement of Director made by the Board of Directors takes place, incumbent Board of Directors, ~~Supervisory Committee~~ and shareholders individually or collectively holding 3% or more of voting rights attached to the Company's share may nominate candidates, without exceeding the number of persons to be elected, for the position of Director for the next session of the Board of Directors or additional candidates for the position of Director;
- ~~(II) When a re-election of the Supervisory Committee or an additional or replacement of supervisor made by the Supervisory Committee takes place, incumbent Supervisory Committee, the Board of Directors and shareholders individually or collectively holding 3% or more of voting rights attached to the Company's share may nominate candidates, without exceeding the number of persons to be elected, for the position of supervisor for the next session of the Supervisory Committee or additional candidates for the position of supervisor who are not staff representatives;~~
- ~~(III)~~ The shareholders shall provide the Board of Directors ~~and the Supervisory Committee~~ with the resumes and basic particulars of the nominated candidates for the position of Director ~~or supervisor~~. The incumbent Board of Directors ~~and Supervisory Committee~~ shall conduct a review on qualifications. The qualified Directors ~~or supervisors~~ shall be submitted to the shareholders' general meeting for election;
- ~~(III)~~ At request of the Company, the candidates for the position of Director ~~or supervisor~~ shall undertake to the Company in written form the followings, including but not limited to, agreeing to accept the nomination, undertaking that the information submitted about themselves are true and complete, and warranting that they will duly perform the duties upon successful election.

When election of two or more Directors ~~and non-employee representative supervisors~~ is voted at the shareholders' general meeting, the cumulative voting system can be applied. If Directors will be elected by cumulative voting at the shareholders' general meeting, the voting of independent non-executive Directors and non-independent non-executive Directors shall be conducted separately.

The cumulative voting system referred to in the preceding paragraph means each share shall have the same voting right as the number of Directors ~~or supervisors~~ to be elected, when election of Directors ~~or supervisors~~ is voted at the shareholders' general meeting. The voting right held by shareholders may be used collectively. The Board of Directors shall state the resumes and basic particulars of the candidates for Directors ~~and supervisors~~ to the shareholders.

Article 86 In addition to the cumulative voting system, the shareholders' general meeting shall resolve on all the proposals separately. In the event of several proposals for the same issue, such proposals shall be voted in the order of time when they are submitted. Unless the shareholders' general meeting is suspended or no resolution can be made for special reasons such as force majeure, voting of such proposals shall neither be shelved nor refused at the shareholders' general meeting.

Article 87 No amendment shall be made to a proposal when it is considered at a shareholders' general meeting, otherwise such amendments shall be deemed as a new proposal and shall not be voted at the current meeting.

Article 88 The same voting right can only be exercised in only one form: onsite, over the network, or otherwise. Where the same voting right is exercised more than once, the voting result of the first time shall prevail.

Article 89 At any shareholders' general meeting, voting shall be conducted by open ballot.

Article 90 Before the relevant proposed resolution is voted on at the shareholders' general meeting, two representatives of the shareholders shall be elected to take part in counting the votes and scrutinizing the conduct of the poll. Any shareholder who is connected with the matter under consideration and his/her proxy shall not take part in counting the votes or scrutinizing the conduct of the poll.

When votes are cast on proposals at the shareholders' general meeting, related parties appointed pursuant to the Hong Kong Listing Rules, together with the legal counsels (if applicable), representatives of the shareholders ~~and the representative of supervisors~~ shall be jointly responsible for scrutinizing and counting votes and shall announce the voting results at the meeting. The voting result shall be recorded in the meeting minutes.

Shareholders of the company or their proxies, who have cast their votes by online voting or by other means, shall have the right to check the voting results in the way in which they have cast their votes.

Article 91 An on-site shareholders' general meeting shall not end before that held on-line or otherwise, and the chairperson of the meeting shall announce the voting status and results of each proposal and announce whether the proposal is adopted or not based on the voting results.

Prior to the formal announcement of voting results, the relevant parties involved in relation to the on-site voting, on-line or otherwise at the shareholders' general meeting, including the Company, the persons responsible for counting votes and scrutinizing the voting, and the substantial shareholders, shall be obliged to keep the voting status confidential.

Article 92 The shareholders attending the shareholders' general meeting shall express one of the following opinions on the proposal to be voted on: for, against, or abstain. Save for the circumstance under which the securities registration and settlement institution acting as the nominal holder of shares under the mutual stock market access between the Mainland and Hong Kong (if any) makes reporting in accordance with the instruction of the de facto holders of Relevant Shares. When a poll is taken at a meeting, a shareholder (including proxies) who have the right to two or more votes need not cast all his votes in the same way.

A blank, wrongly filled, or illegible vote, or an uncast vote shall be deemed to be a waiver of the voting right of the voter, and the voting result for the number of shares he/she holds shall be accounted as "abstention".

Article 93 If the chairperson of the meeting has any doubts as to the result of a resolution which has been put to vote at the shareholders' general meeting, he/she may have the votes counted. If the chairperson of the meeting has not counted the votes, any shareholder present in person or by proxy who objects to the result announced by the chairperson of the meeting may, immediately after the declaration, demand that the votes be counted, and the chairperson of the meeting shall have the votes counted immediately.

Article 94 Resolutions of shareholders' general meetings shall be announced in a timely manner in accordance with the relevant laws, administrative regulations and securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed. The announcements shall set forth the number of shareholders and proxies present at the meeting, the total number of voting shares held and the proportion to the total number of voting shares of the Company, the voting method, the voting results on each proposal and the details of each of the resolutions passed.

Article 95 Where a proposal has not been passed or the resolutions of the preceding shareholders' general meeting have been changed at the current shareholders' general meeting, special mention shall be made in the announcement of the resolutions of the shareholders' general meeting in accordance with the relevant laws, administrative regulations and securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed.

Article 96 Where proposals on the election of Directors ~~and supervisors~~ are passed at the shareholders' general meeting, the newly appointed Directors ~~and supervisors~~ shall take office at the time specified in the resolutions of the shareholders' general meeting; if the resolutions of the shareholders' general meeting do not set out the term of office, the term of office of a new Director ~~or supervisor~~ shall be the date on which such new Director ~~or supervisor~~ is elected at the relevant shareholders' general meeting.

Article 97 If the shareholders' general meeting passes the proposal on cash dividends, bonus shares or conversion of capital reserve into share capital, the Company shall implement the specific scheme in 2 months after the end of the shareholders' general meeting.

CHAPTER V THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 1 Directors

Article 98 A Director shall be a natural person. A person who falls into any of the following circumstances shall not serve as a Director of the Company:

- (1) a person without or with limited capacity for civil conduct;
- (2) a person who has been sentenced to criminal punishment due to corruption, bribery, infringement of property, misappropriation of property or destruction of the socialist market economic order; or a person who has been deprived of his political rights due to a crime, where less than 5 years have elapsed since the date of completion of the sentence; or if the sentence has been probated, not more than 2 years since the expiration of the probation period;
- (3) a person who was a Director, factory manager or manager of a company or enterprise which has entered into insolvent liquidation and who was personally liable for the insolvency of such company or enterprise, where less than 3 years has elapsed since the date of the completion of the insolvency and liquidation of such company or enterprise;
- (4) a person who was legal representatives of a company or enterprise which had its business license revoked due to violation of the law and had been closed down by order, and who was personally liable, where less than 3 years has elapsed since the date on which the business license of the company or enterprise was revoked or the company or enterprise was ordered to close down;

- (5) a person who was listed as defaulter by the People's Court due to a relatively large amount of debts due and outstanding;
- (6) a person who is currently being prohibited from participating in securities market by the CSRC and such barring period has not elapsed;
- (7) other circumstances specified by laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules or the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

For any election and appointment of a Director in contravention of the provisions prescribed by this Article, such election, appointment or engagement shall be void and null. Where a Director falls into any of the aforesaid circumstances in his term of office, the Director shall be removed from office.

Article 99 The term of office of the Directors is 3 years, and they are eligible for re-election upon expiry of the term. Directors are elected or replaced by the shareholders' general meeting and may be removed by the shareholders' general meeting before the expiry of the term.

The term of office of a Director shall commence from the date at which the Director is appointed until the expiry of the term of office of the current session of the Board of Directors. Where the re-election of Directors is not held in time after the term of office of the existing Directors has expired, the original Director shall, before the newly-elected Director assumes his post, perform duties as a Director in accordance with the laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules and the Articles of Association.

Any person appointed by the Board of Directors to fill up a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board of Directors shall hold office only until the first annual shareholders' general meeting after his/her appointment, and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Any Director (including the chief executive officer or other executive Directors) can be removed before the expiry of his/her term of office by an ordinary resolution passed at a shareholders' general meeting, subject to compliance with the relevant laws and administrative regulations and the regulations of the stock exchange on which the Company's shares are listed. Such removal shall not affect the rights of such Director to make any claim for damages under any contract.

Chief executive officer or other senior management may serve as the Director concurrently, provided that the Directors who act as chief executive officer or other senior management concurrently shall not exceed one half of the total Directors of the Company.

Article 100 Directors shall comply with the laws, administrative regulations and the Articles of Association, and shall fulfill fiduciary obligations to the Company as follows:

- (1) not to abuse his position to accept bribes or other illegal income or misappropriate the properties of the Company;
- (2) not to misappropriate the funds of the Company;
- (3) not to set up accounts in his own name or in the name of any other person for the purpose of depositing any of the assets or funds of the Company;
- (4) not to lend funds of the Company to any other person or use the property of the Company to provide guarantee for any other person without the consent of the shareholders' general meeting or the Board of Directors in contravention of the provisions of the Articles of Association;
- (5) not to enter into contracts or transactions with the Company in contravention of the provisions of the Articles of Association or without the consent of the shareholders' general meeting;
- (6) not to, without the consent of the shareholders' general meeting, abuse his position to seize business opportunities for himself or for other persons which shall otherwise belong to the Company, or operate a business similar to that of the Company for himself or for other persons;
- (7) not to misappropriate commissions derived from transactions entered into by the Company;
- (8) not to disclose confidential information of the Company without permission;
- (9) not to abuse his connections with the Company to jeopardize the interests of the Company;
- (10) other fiduciary obligations as required by the laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules, the securities regulatory rules for listing of shares of the Company and the Articles of Association.

Any income derived by a Director in violation of the provisions of this Article shall belong to the Company. The Director shall be liable for indemnifying the Company against any loss incurred.

Article 101 Directors shall comply with the laws, administrative regulations, the securities regulatory rules for listing of shares of the Company and the Articles of Association and shall fulfill the following due diligence obligations:

- (1) to exercise the rights conferred by the Company with due discretion, care and diligence to ensure the business operations of the Company comply with the state's laws, administrative regulations and economic policies, not going beyond the scope of business specified in the Company's business license;
- (2) to treat all shareholders impartially;
- (3) to keep informed of the business operations and management of the Company;
- (4) to sign the regular reports of the Company for written confirmation (subject to the requirements of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange), and to ensure the information disclosed by the Company is true, accurate and complete;
- (5) to faithfully provide the ~~Audit Committee~~^{Supervisory Committee} with relevant information, and not to interfere with the ~~Audit Committee~~^{Supervisory Committee} or ~~members of the Audit Committee~~^{supervisors} in performing their duties and powers;
- (6) to fulfill other due diligence obligations stipulated by laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules, the securities regulatory rules in the place where the Company's shares are listed and the Articles of Association.

Article 102 A Director who cannot attend the meetings of the Board of Directors in person twice consecutively nor appoints any other Directors to attend on his behalf is deemed as failure in performing his duties, and shall be subject to replacement as recommended by the Board of Directors at the shareholders' general meeting.

Article 103 A Director may request to resign before expiry of his term of office. The Director to resign shall submit to the Board of Directors a written report in relation to his resignation. The Board of Directors shall disclose the relevant information within the period stipulated in relevant laws and administrative regulations and the securities regulatory rules in the place where the Company's shares are listed.

In the event that the resignation of any Director results in the number of members of the Board of Directors falling below the quorum, the existing Director shall continue to perform his duties in accordance with the laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules, the securities regulatory rules in the place where the Company's shares are listed and the provisions of the Articles of Association until the re-elected Director assumes office.

Other than the circumstances referred to in the preceding paragraph, the resignation of a Director shall become effective upon submission of his resignation report to the Board of Directors.

Article 104 When a Director's resignation takes effect or his term of office expires, the Director shall complete all handover procedures with the Board of Directors, and his fiduciary duties to the Company and shareholders shall not be discharged after the termination of office, the duty of confidentiality of Directors in relation to trade secrets of the Company survives the termination of their tenure until such trade secrets become public. The duration of other duties of a Director that are not stipulated in the resolution of the shareholders' general meeting at which he/she is elected as a Director or in his/her contract of employment shall be determined in accordance with the principle of fairness, depending on the time lapse between the termination and the occurrence of the matter as well as the circumstances and conditions under which the relationship with the Company is terminated.

Article 105 Without the legal authorization by the Articles of Association or the Board of Directors, no Director shall act on behalf of the Company or the Board of Directors in his own name. Where a Director acts in his own name, the Director shall declare in advance his position and identity in the case that a third party would reasonably believe that the Director is acting on behalf of the Company or the Board of Directors.

Article 106 A Director shall bear the liability for compensation if losses are caused to the Company due to violating the provisions of laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules or the Articles of Association when performing their duties.

Article 107 The Company shall have independent non-executive Directors. The independent non-executive Directors shall be independent of the Company and the Company's substantial shareholders. The independent non-executive Directors shall not hold any position in the Company other than that of independent non-executive Directors. The independent non-executive Directors shall perform their duties in accordance with the laws, administrative regulations, the relevant provisions of the CSRC and the stock exchanges where the Company's shares are listed.

Section 2 The Board of Directors

Article 108 The Company shall have a Board of Directors, which shall be accountable to the shareholders' general meeting.

Article 109 The Board of Directors consists of 10~~10~~ members, 4 of whom are independent non-executive Directors. At any time, the Board of Directors shall consist of more than 1/3 independent non-executive Directors. The Board of Directors shall have a chairperson and no vice-chairperson.

Article 110 The Board of Directors exercises the following powers:

- (1) to convene shareholders' general meetings and report its work to the shareholders' general meetings;
- (2) to implement the resolutions of the shareholders' general meeting;
- (3) to decide on the Company's business plans and investment plans;
- (4) to review and approve the Company's annual financial budget and final accounts;
- (5) to formulate the Company's profit distribution plan and loss recovery plan;
- (6) to formulate the proposals for increase or reduction of the registered capital and the issuance and listing of bonds or other securities of the Company;
- (7) to formulate plans for material acquisitions, purchase of the Company's shares, merger, division, dissolution and change of corporate form of the Company;
- (8) to decide on the Company's external investment, acquisition and disposal of assets, pledge of assets, external guarantees, entrusted financial management, connected transactions, external donations and other matters within the scope authorized by the shareholders' general meeting;
- (9) to determine the establishment of the Company's internal management structure;
- (10) to decide on the appointment or dismissal of the Company's chief executive officer, secretary to the Board of Directors and senior management, and decide on matters of remuneration, rewards and punishments; to decide on appointment or dismissal of the Company's vice president, financial officer and other senior management based on nomination by the chief executive officer, and to decide on their remuneration, rewards and punishments;
- (11) to formulate the Company's basic management system;
- (12) to formulate proposals for any amendment to the Articles of Association;
- (13) to manage the information disclosure of the Company;
- (14) to propose to the shareholders' general meeting the appointment or replacement of the accounting firm that provides audit service to the Company;

- (15) to listen to the work report of the chief executive officer of the Company and inspect the work of the chief executive officer;
- (16) other functions and powers conferred by laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules, the Articles of Association and the shareholders' general meeting.

Matters beyond the scope of authorization given by the shareholders' general meeting shall be submitted to the shareholders' general meeting for consideration.

Article 111 The Board of Directors of the Company shall explain to the shareholders' general meeting the non-standard audit opinions on the financial report of the Company issued by the certified accountant in accordance with the relevant laws, administrative regulations and the securities regulatory rules in the place where the Company's shares are listed.

Article 112 The Board of Directors shall formulate the rules of procedures for the Board of Directors, provide for the convening and voting procedures of the Board of Directors, etc., to ensure implementation of the resolutions of the shareholders' general meeting, enhance work efficiency and ensure scientific decision-making. The rules of procedures for the Board of Directors, which are annexed to the Articles of Association, shall be drafted by the Board of Directors and approved by the shareholders' general meeting.

Article 113 The Board of Directors shall determine the authority of external investments, acquisition and disposal of assets, pledge of assets, external guarantees, entrusted financial management, connected transactions, external donations, etc.; and establish strict review and decision-making procedures. As to substantial investments, experts or professionals shall be engaged for evaluation and shall be reported to the shareholders' general meeting for approval.

Article 114 The chairperson shall be elected by more than half of all the Directors of the Board of Directors.

Article 115 The chairperson of the Board of Directors exercises the following powers:

- (1) to preside over shareholders' general meetings and convene and preside over meetings of the Board of Directors;
- (2) to supervise and inspect the implementation of resolutions of the Board of Directors;
- (3) to sign important documents of the Board of Directors;

- (4) to exercise the power to handle corporate affairs in accordance with the law and in the interest of the Company in cases of emergency caused by major natural disasters or other force majeure, and report to the Board of Directors and the shareholders' general meeting thereafter;
- (5) other powers authorized by the Board of Directors.

Article 116 Where the chairperson is unable to or does not perform his duties, a Director nominated by a simple majority of the Directors shall perform his duties.

Article 117 The Board of Directors shall convene regular Board meeting at least four times each year. The meeting shall be convened by the chairperson and all the Directors~~and supervisors~~ shall be notified in writing at least 14 days prior to the meeting.

Article 118 Any shareholder holding more than one tenth voting rights, more than one third of the Directors or the Audit Committee~~Supervisory Committee~~ may propose the holding of an extraordinary meeting of the Board of Directors. The chairperson shall convene and preside over the Board meeting within 10 days upon receipt of the proposal.

Article 119 For holding of an extraordinary meeting of the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors shall give a written notice to all the Directors three days before the meeting is held. In case of emergency and an extraordinary meeting of the Board of Directors is required to be convened as soon as possible, the notice of meeting may be given by telephone or by other means at any time, but the convener shall provide an explanation at the meeting.

Article 120 A notice of the Board meeting shall at least include the following details:

- (1) date and venue of the meeting;
- (2) duration of the meeting;
- (3) purpose and matters to be discussed;
- (4) date of issue of the notice.

Board meetings shall be convened on-site in principle. On the basis of fully safeguarding the rights of Directors to be informed and to express their opinions, and with the consent of the convener and proposer, the meeting may also be convened and resolutions may be passed by voting through video, telephone, e-mail, etc., and signed by the participating Directors.

Article 121 The quorum of Board meeting shall consist of more than one half of all the Directors. A resolution of the Board of Directors shall be passed by more than half of all the Directors.

For guarantee matters within the scope of authority of the Board of Directors and other related matters stipulated in the Articles of Association and other systems of the Company, in addition to being approved by more than half of all the Directors, such matters shall also be approved by more than two-thirds of the Directors present at the Board meeting.

For voting on the resolutions of the Board of Directors, each Director shall have one vote.

The Board of Directors shall obtain the approval of more than half of all members of the audit committee of the Board of Directors prior to making resolutions on matters relating to (1) the appointment and removal of the accounting firm undertaking the Company's auditing business; (2) the appointment and removal of the financial officer; and (3) the disclosure of the financial and accounting reports.

Article 122 Where a Director,~~supervisor~~, chief executive officer and other senior management of the Company is in any way, directly or indirectly, materially interested in an executed or proposed contract, transaction or arrangement with the Company (other than the service contract of such Director,~~supervisor~~, chief executive officer and other senior management with the Company), he/she shall declare the nature and extent of his/her interests to the Board of Directors as soon as possible, regardless of whether or not such matters are generally subject to the approval of the Board of Directors.

Where a Director or his/her associates (as defined in the Hong Kong Listing Rules in force from time to time) are connected (related) or interested in a matter or enterprise which is the subject of a resolution at Board meeting, unless permitted by laws and regulations and the securities regulatory rules in the place where the Company's shares are listed: (1) such Director shall abstain from voting on the resolution and shall not vote on behalf of other Directors; (2) such Director shall not be counted for the purpose of determining whether or not a quorum is present at such Board meeting. The Board meeting may be held with the presence of more than half of the non-connected Directors, resolutions at the Board meeting shall be passed by more than half of the non-connected Directors; (3) if the number of non-connected Directors attends the Board meeting is less than three, the matter shall be submitted to the shareholders' general meeting for consideration.

The vote of the Board of Directors on "connected transactions" under the Hong Kong Listing Rules shall comply with the relevant provisions of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

Article 123 Voting on resolutions of the Board of Directors may be by show of hands or by written ballot.

Extraordinary meetings of the Board of Directors may be held and resolutions may be passed by means of communication, etc., on the premise of ensuring the full expression of opinions by the Directors, and the Directors participating in the meeting shall sign the ballots, the resolution of the meeting and the minutes of the meeting and other documents.

Article 124 Directors shall attend Board meetings in person. Where a Director is unable to attend a meeting for any reason, he/she may by a written power of attorney appoint another Director to attend the meeting on his/her behalf. The power of attorney shall set out the name of the proxy, the subject and scope of authorization and the period of the validity of the power of attorney, which shall be signed or officially sealed by the authorizing party. A Director appointed as the representative of another Director to attend the meeting shall exercise the rights of a Director within the scope of authority conferred by the appointing Director. Where a Director is unable to attend a Board meeting and has not appointed a proxy to attend the meeting on his/her behalf, he/she shall be deemed to have waived his/her right to vote at the meeting.

Article 125 The Board of Directors shall keep minutes of resolutions on matters discussed at the meeting, all attending Directors shall sign the minutes of such meetings.

The minutes of the meeting of the Board of Directors shall be kept as record of the Company for a period of no less than 10 years.

Article 126 Minutes of the Board meetings shall include the following contents:

- (1) the date and venue of the meeting and the name of the convener;
- (2) the names of the attending Directors and the Directors (proxies) attending the meeting on behalf of others;
- (3) the agenda of the meeting;
- (4) the highlights of Directors' speeches (if any);
- (5) the voting method and result of each resolution (the result shall specify the number of votes for, against and abstaining).

Section 3 Special Committees of the Board

Article 127 The Board of Directors shall establish the audit committee, the nomination committee, the remuneration and appraisal committee and the scientific committee. The Audit Committee exercises the powers and functions of the supervisory committee as stipulated in the Company Law. The Board of Directors may set up other special committees with the consent of the shareholders' general meeting. Special committees shall be accountable to the Board of Directors and perform their duties in accordance with the Articles of Association and the authorization of the Board of Directors, and their proposals shall be submitted to the Board of Directors for deliberation. The members of special committees shall consist totally of Directors. The special committee shall not pass any resolution in the name of the Board of Directors, but may exercise its decision-making power in respect of authorized matters under the special authorization of the Board of Directors, provided that it does not contravene the mandatory provisions of the relevant PRC laws, regulations, regulatory documents and the listing rules of the stock exchange where the Company's shares are listed. The Board of Directors is responsible for formulating the working rules for special committees and regulating the operation of special committees.

Article 128 The Audit Committee shall consist of three members, being directors who do not hold senior management positions in the Company, two of whom shall be independent non-executive directors.

**CHAPTER VI CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND OTHER SENIOR
MANAGEMENT**

Article ~~129~~128 The Company shall have a chief executive officer, who shall be appointed or dismissed by the Board of Directors.

The Company shall have ~~three~~four vice presidents and a financial officer, all of whom shall be appointed or dismissed by the Board of Directors.

The chief executive officer, vice president, financial officer and secretary to the Board of Directors of the Company are the senior management of the Company.

Article ~~130~~129 The circumstances of disqualification for Directors prescribed in Article 98 of the Articles of Association shall be applicable to senior management.

Provisions regarding the duty of loyalty under Article 100 and diligence of Directors under (4) to (6) of Article 101 hereof shall be applicable to the senior management.

Article ~~131~~130 A person who holds administrative positions other than that of a Director ~~and supervisor~~ of the Company's controlling shareholder or de facto controller shall not act as the senior management of the Company. The senior management of the controlling shareholder concurrently holding the office of a Director ~~or supervisor~~ of the Company shall ensure that they have sufficient time and efforts to fulfill their duties with the Company.

The senior management of the Company only receives remuneration from the Company, and no remuneration shall be paid by the controlling shareholder on behalf of the Company.

Article ~~132~~¹³¹ The chief executive officer shall be appointed for a term of 3 years and shall be eligible for reappointment upon expiry of the term.

Article ~~133~~¹³² The chief executive officer shall be accountable to the Board of Directors and exercise the following functions and powers:

- (1) to be in charge of the production, operation and management of the Company, to organize the implementation of the resolutions of the Board of Directors and to report to the Board of Directors;
- (2) to organize the implementation of the Company's annual business plans and investment plans;
- (3) to formulate plans for the establishment of the Company's internal management structure;
- (4) to draft the Company's basic management system;
- (5) to formulate the specific rules and regulations of the Company;
- (6) to propose to the Board of Directors the appointment or dismissal of the chief executive officer, vice president, financial officer and other senior management of the Company;
- (7) to appoint or dismiss management personnel other than those required to be appointed or dismissed by the Board of Directors;
- (8) other powers conferred by the Articles of Association or the Board of Directors.

The chief executive officer shall attend Board meetings.

Article ~~134~~¹³³ The chief executive officer shall formulate working rules of the chief executive officer which shall be implemented after being approved by the Board of Directors.

Article ~~135~~¹³⁴ The working rules of the chief executive officer shall include:

- (1) the conditions, procedure and participants of the chief executive officer's meeting;
- (2) specific responsibilities and work allocation of the chief executive officer and other senior management;

- (3) use of funds and assets of the Company, scope of authorization to enter into material contracts and reporting policies regarding the Board of Directors~~and the Supervisory Committee~~;
- (4) other matters which the Board of Directors deems necessary.

Article ~~136~~135 The chief executive officer may resign prior to the expiry of his/her term of office. The specific procedures and methods regarding the resignation of the chief executive officer shall be stated in the employment contract between the chief executive officer and the Company.

Article ~~137~~136 The Board of Directors shall have a secretary. The secretary is in charge of preparing the shareholders' general meeting and the Board meeting, keeping files, and managing the data regarding the shareholders of the Company, as well as dealing with information disclosure and other matters. The secretary to the Board of Directors shall comply with the relevant provisions of laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules and the Articles of Association.

Article ~~138~~137 Senior management shall faithfully perform their duties and safeguard the best interests of the Company and all the shareholders. If the Company's senior management fail to faithfully perform their duties or violate their fiduciary duties, causing damage to the interests of the Company and public shareholders, they shall be liable for compensation in accordance with the law. If a senior management member violates the provisions of laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules or the Articles of Association in the course of performing his/her duties with the Company and subsequently causes losses to the Company, he/she shall be liable for compensation.

~~CHAPTER VII SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE~~

~~Section 1 Supervisors~~

Article ~~138~~ ~~The circumstances of disqualification of Directors prescribed in Article 98 of the Articles of Association shall be applicable to supervisors.~~

~~Directors, chief executive officer and other senior management may not also serve as a supervisor.~~

Article ~~139~~ ~~The supervisors shall comply with laws, administrative regulations, the securities regulatory rules in the place where the Company's shares are listed and the Articles of Association and bear the responsibility of loyalty and diligence. They shall not take any bribe or other illegal gains by taking advantage of their authority and shall not take illegal possession of the company property.~~

~~The supervisors shall ensure that the information disclosed by the Company is true, accurate and complete, and sign written confirmation opinions for regular reports (subject to the requirements of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange).~~

~~**Article 140** The term of office of a supervisor is three years. Supervisors may be re-elected upon expiry of their terms of office.~~

~~**Article 141** Where a supervisor is not timely re-elected at the expiry of the term of office or a supervisor resigns during the term of office as a result of which the number of the members in the Supervisory Committee falls below the quorum, the original supervisor shall perform his/her duties as a supervisor, prior to the assumption by the re-elected supervisor, in accordance with the laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules and the Articles of Association.~~

~~**Article 142** The supervisors may attend Board meetings, and deliver enquiry or suggestion regarding resolutions of the Board of Directors.~~

~~**Article 143** The supervisors shall not use their connected relationship to prejudice the Company's interests and shall be liable for indemnity to any loss caused to the Company.~~

~~**Article 144** Any supervisor who violates any laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules or the Articles of Association during the course of performing his/her duties and causes losses to the Company shall be liable for indemnity.~~

Section 2 Supervisory Committee

~~**Article 145** The Company shall have a Supervisory Committee. The Supervisory Committee shall consist of 3 supervisors and have 1 chairperson. The chairperson of the Supervisory Committee shall be elected by votes representing more than half of all the supervisors. The chairperson of the Supervisory Committee shall convene and preside over the meetings of the Supervisory Committee. Where the chairperson of the Supervisory Committee is unable to or does not perform his/her functions and duties, a supervisor jointly elected by a simple majority of all the supervisors shall convene and preside over the meeting.~~

~~The Supervisory Committee shall comprise supervisors who represent the shareholders and a proper proportion of supervisors who represent the employees, and the proportion of the latter shall be 2/3. The employee representatives of the Supervisory Committee shall be elected by employees of the Company at the employee representatives' meeting, employee meeting or otherwise democratically.~~

Article 146 The Supervisory Committee shall exercise the following powers:

- (1) — to examine the Company's financial affairs;
- (2) — to supervise the Directors and senior management in their performance of their duties and to propose the removal of Directors and senior management who have violated laws, administrative regulations, the Articles of Association or resolutions of the shareholders' general meeting;
- (3) — to demand rectification by a Director or senior management when the acts of such persons are harmful to the Company's interest;
- (4) — to propose the convening of extraordinary shareholders' general meetings and to convene and preside over shareholders' general meeting when the Board of Directors fails to perform the duty of convening and presiding over shareholders' general meeting under the Company Law;
- (5) — to submit proposals to the shareholders' general meeting;
- (6) — to initiate legal actions against Directors and senior management in accordance with Rule 189 of the Company Law;
- (7) — to investigate any irregularities in the operation of the Company and to engage accounting firms, law firms and other professional institutions to assist in the investigation if necessary at the expense of the Company;
- (8) — other functions and powers stipulated by laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules, the Articles of Association or other internal systems and rules.

Article 147 The Supervisory Committee shall meet at least once every 6 months. A supervisor may propose to convene an extraordinary meeting of Supervisory Committee.

Resolutions of the Supervisory Committee shall be adopted by a simple majority of the supervisors.

Article 148 Where the Supervisory Committee convenes an extraordinary meeting of Supervisory Committee, it shall notify all the supervisors in writing three days prior to the meeting. Where an extraordinary meeting of the Supervisory Committee needs to be convened in emergency, the notice of meeting may be sent by telephone or other means at any time, but the convener shall make explanations at the meeting.

Article 149 ~~The notice of the meeting of the Supervisory Committee shall include the following:~~

- ~~(1) — date, venue and duration of the meeting;~~
- ~~(2) — purpose and matters to be discussed;~~
- ~~(3) — date of issue of the notice.~~

Article 150 ~~The Supervisory Committee shall keep minutes of resolutions on matters discussed at the meeting, all attending supervisors shall sign the minutes of such meetings.~~

~~A supervisor is entitled to request that an explanatory note be made with regard to his speech in the meeting. The minutes of the meeting of the Supervisory Committee shall be kept as company files for at least 10 years.~~

Article 151 ~~The Supervisory Committee shall formulate the rules of procedures for the Supervisory Committee, specify the method for conducting business and the voting procedures of the Supervisory Committee, etc., so as to ensure the working efficiency and scientific decision making of the Supervisory Committee. The rules of procedures for the Supervisory Committee annexed to the Articles of Association shall be prepared by the Supervisory Committee and approved by the shareholders' general meeting.~~

CHAPTER ~~VII~~^{VIII} FINANCIAL AND ACCOUNTING SYSTEM, DISTRIBUTION OF PROFITS AND AUDITING

Section I Financial and Accounting System

Article 139~~152~~ The Company shall develop its financial and accounting system pursuant to the law, administrative regulations and the requirements of the relevant department of the PRC.

Article 140~~153~~ ~~The Company shall publish its annual financial accounting report within 4 months after the conclusion of each fiscal year. The interim report shall be released within 3 months after the expiration of the first six months of each fiscal year.~~The Company shall disclose its annual results announcement within three months, and its annual report within four months after the end of each accounting year; shall disclose its interim results announcement within two months, and its interim report within three months after the end of the first half of each accounting year. The Company shall submit, disclose and/or place results announcement, annual report, interim report and other documents as stipulated in the regulations of the stock exchange on which shares of the Company are listed.

The above results announcement, annual report, interim report shall be prepared in accordance with the laws, administrative regulations, the regulations of CSRC and the stock exchange on which shares of the Company are listed.

Article ~~141~~¹⁵⁴ The Company shall not establish other accounting books except for the statutory accounting books. The assets of the Company shall not be deposited in any account opened in the name of any individual.

Article ~~142~~¹⁵⁵ In distributing the profit after taxation of the current year, the Company shall set aside 10% of its profit into its statutory common reserve fund. When the aggregate amount of the statutory common reserve fund of the Company is more than 50% of its registered capital, further appropriations are not required.

Where the statutory common reserve fund of the Company is insufficient to make up for the losses of the previous year, the profits of the current year shall be used to make up for such losses before making allocation to its statutory common reserve fund in accordance with the preceding paragraph.

After allocation of its profits after taxation to its statutory common reserve fund, the Company may, subject to the approval of the shareholders' general meeting, allocate its profits after taxation to its discretionary common reserve fund.

After the Company has made good its losses and made allocations to its discretionary common reserve fund, the remaining profits after taxation shall be distributed in proportion to the number of shares held by the shareholders, except for those which are not distributed in a proportionate manner as provided by the Articles of Association.

If the shareholders' general meeting has, in violation of the provision of the preceding paragraph, distributed profits to shareholders before the Company has made up for its losses and made allocations to its statutory common reserve fund, the shareholders shall return to the Company the profit distributed in violation of the provision.

The Company's shares held by the Company are not entitled to any profit distribution.

Article ~~143~~¹⁵⁶ The common reserve fund of the Company can be applied for making up for losses of the Company, expansion of the Company's production and operation or increasing the capital of the Company. When using common reserve fund to make up for losses of the Company, the discretionary reserve and statutory reserve shall be used first; if the losses cannot be made up, the capital reserve can be used in accordance with regulations.

Where the statutory common reserve fund is converted into capital, the balance of the common reserve fund shall not fall below 25% of the Company's registered capital prior to such conversion.

Article ~~144~~¹⁵⁷ After the shareholders' general meeting of our Company make a resolution on profit distribution plan, the Board shall complete the distribution of dividends (or shares) within 2 months after the convening of the shareholders' general meeting.

Article ~~145~~58 Profit distribution policies of the Company is as follows:

(1) Profit distribution policies of the Company

The Company adopts a sustainable and steady profit distribution policy to provide reasonable investment return to investors while maintaining the sustainable development of the Company. Subject to the compliance of the profit distribution principles, the maintenance of the normal operation and the long-term development of the Company, the Company attaches importance to the cash dividend payment.

(2) The method and proportion for the profit distribution of the Company

The Company distributes dividends in cash or shares, or cash-and-shares, but considers cash dividends as a priority; On the premise of meeting the fund demand for business, predictable important investment plan or substantial capital expense, Board in the Company can, in accordance with the operating profit and cash flow of the current period, carry out the semi-annual dividend distribution, and the specific plan shall be submitted to shareholders' general meeting for approval after being reviewed by the Board.

(3) Specific conditions of profit distribution

The Company has recorded a profit in a particular year and that its accumulated undistributed profit is positive, it shall distribute dividends in cash; If the Company decides to distribute profit by way of share dividend, such real and reasonable factors as the Company's growth and dilution of net asset value per shares shall be taken into consideration; The Board of the Company shall collectively consider factors such as the characteristics of the industry, phase of development, its own operation model, profit level and whether there is material capital expenditure to identify the following scenarios and propose different cash dividend policies according to the procedures provided in the Articles of Association:

1. Where the Company is in a developed stage with no substantial capital expenditure arrangement, the dividend distributed in the form of cash shall not be less than 80% of the total profit distribution when distributing its profits;
2. Where the Company is in a developed stage with substantial capital expenditure arrangement, the dividend distributed in the form of cash shall not be less than 40% of the total profit distribution when distributing its profits;

3. Where the Company is in a developing stage with substantial capital expenditure arrangement, the dividend distributed in the form of cash shall not be less than 20% of the total profit distribution when distributing its profits.

Where it is difficult to identify the development stage of the Company but there is substantial capital expenditure arrangement, dividend distribution may be dealt with in accordance with the preceding provisions.

Significant capital expenditure refers to the proposed external investment, acquisition of assets or purchase of equipment by the Company in the coming twelve months with accumulated expenses amounting to or exceeding 30% of the latest audited net assets of the Company.

(4) Conditions for cash dividends

The profit distributed by the Company in cash shall comply with the following conditions:

1. The distributable profit (i.e. the profit after tax after deducting compensation for loss and withdrawal of common reserve fund by the Company) realized by the Company for the year or half year is positive and the cash flow is sufficient. The payment of cash dividends will not affect the subsequent continuing operation of the Company;
2. The cumulative distributable profit of the Company is positive;
3. The audit firm issues an unqualified audited financial report of the Company for the year;
4. The Company has no such events as major investment plan or significant cash expenditure, excluding projects of raising proceeds.

Major investment plan or significant capital expenditure refers to the proposed external investment, acquisition of assets or purchase of equipment by the Company in the coming twelve months with accumulated expenses amounting to or exceeding 30% of the latest audited net assets of the Company.

Items 1-3 of the above conditions for cash dividends are necessary conditions for the Company to implement cash dividends; after consideration and approval by the shareholders' general meeting, item 4 of the above conditions for cash dividend distribution shall not affect the Company's implementation of cash dividend distribution.

(5) Proportion for cash dividends

Subject to the compliance of the profit distribution principles, the maintenance of the normal operation and the long-term development of the Company, in principle, the Company can distribute the distributable profits on an annual basis, and where necessary, the Company can also distribute interim profit. The profit to be distributed by the Company in cash each year shall not be less than 10% of the distributable profit realized in that year. The specific cash dividend payout ratio proposal for each year shall be formulated by the Board in accordance with the aforementioned regulations, taking into account the Company's operating conditions and relevant regulations, and shall be submitted to the shareholders' general meeting for approval.

(6) Period interval for profit distribution

Subject to conditions, the Company shall pay dividends once a year and also may make interim profit distribution.

(7) Decision-making procedures for profit distribution

Where the Board of the Company proposes a cash dividend distribution plan, the cash dividend distribution plan shall be approved by an ordinary resolution at the shareholders' general meeting; if the Board of the Company proposes a dividend distribution plan, it shall be approved by the shareholders' general meeting by way of special resolution.

When formulating a detailed cash dividend distribution plan by the Company, the Board shall carefully study and deliberate on the timing, conditions and minimum ratio for cash dividends of the Company, conditions for adjustment and its decision-making procedures, etc.

Independent non-executive Directors may solicit opinions from the minority shareholders, put forward dividend distribution proposals, and directly submit the same to the Board for consideration.

Before the specific cash dividend plan is considered at a shareholders' general meeting, the Company shall actively communicate with the shareholders, especially the minority shareholders, through various channels, fully heed the opinions and demands of the minority shareholders, and reply to their concerns in a timely manner.

If the Company recorded profits in last fiscal year but the Board did not propose cash profit distribution plan after the end of last fiscal year, explanation shall be made in regular report on the reasons not distributing profit and the usages of the profits not distributed and retained by the Company.

Where the Company does not make profit distribution or makes the profit distribution in a proportion lower than the cash dividend proportion as stipulated in the Articles of Association in a year, the Board of the Company shall disclose the reason. The relevant profit distribution proposal shall be submitted to the shareholders' general meeting for approval after having considered by the Board of the Company, and the reasons for and the specific use of the retained funds shall be detailed in the resolution proposed at the shareholders' general meeting, and approved by the shareholders' general meeting by way of special resolution.

Where the Company needs to make adjustments to its profit distribution policies in line with its production and operation, investment plans, and long-term development, the adjusted profit distribution policies shall not violate the regulations of the CSRC and the stock exchange on which shares of the Company are listed with an aim of protecting the interests of shareholders. The adjustments of the profit distribution policies shall be submitted to the shareholders' general meeting of the Company for approval after being considered by the Board and shall provide specific discussions and detailed reasons at the shareholders' general meeting, and approved by the shareholders' general meeting by way of special resolution.

- (8) If any shareholder illegally occupies the Company's funds, the Company shall deduct the cash profit allocated to such shareholder to repay the amount taken.

If the cash dividend policy is to be adjusted or changed, the Company shall disclose the details of such policy, such as whether the conditions and procedures for the adjustments or changes are in compliance with the regulations.

Section II Internal Auditing

Article ~~146~~159 The Company shall implement an internal auditing system and appoint full time auditors to carry out internal auditing and supervision of the Company's financial incomes and expenses and economic activities.

Article ~~147~~160 The internal audit system and duties of the internal auditors of the Company shall be implemented after the approval by the Board. The chief auditor shall be accountable and report to the Board.

Section III Appointment of Accounting Firm

Article ~~148~~161 The Company shall engage an accounting firm that comply with the Securities Law and the regulations of the stock exchange on which shares of the Company are listed to audit the financial statements, verify the net assets and offer other relevant consulting services. The term of service shall be 1 year, which is renewable upon expiry of the term.

Article ~~149~~162 The appointment, removal or dismissal of an accounting firm by the Company shall be decided by an ordinary resolution at a shareholders' general meeting. If there is a vacancy in the position of accounting firm of the Company, the Board may appoint an accounting firm to fill such vacancy before the convening of the shareholders' general meeting. The accounting firm so appointed shall hold office only until the next following annual shareholders' general meeting and shall then be eligible for re-election. While any such vacancy continues, the surviving or continuing accountant firm, if any, may act.

Article ~~150~~163 The Company shall guarantee that the accounting evidence, accounting books, financial reports and other accounting information provided to the engaged accounting firm are true and complete without any refusal or withholding or falsification.

Article ~~151~~164 The audit fee for an accounting firm or its determination shall be determined by the shareholders' general meeting through ordinary resolutions.

Article ~~152~~165 Where the Company dismisses or ceases to re-appoint an accounting firm, a ten-day prior notice shall be given to the accounting firm, and the accounting firm shall have the right to state its opinions at the shareholders' general meeting where a voting process concerning the dismissal of such accounting firm is carried out.

If the accounting firm resigns, it shall make clear at the shareholders' general meeting whether there is any impropriety on the part of the Company.

CHAPTER ~~VIII~~X NOTICE AND ANNOUNCEMENT

Article ~~153~~166 Notices of the Company shall be delivered in the following forms:

- (1) By specially assigned person;
- (2) By fax, email, or mail;
- (3) By announcement;

- (4) By way of publishing information on websites designated by the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, subject to the laws, administrative regulations and the listing rules of the stock exchange on which shares of the Company are listed;
- (5) By any other means as agreed by the Company or the recipient or as accepted by the recipient after the notice is received;
- (6) By any other means as approved by the relevant regulatory authorities on which the Company's shares are listed or as specified in the Articles of Association.

Unless otherwise stated, the “announcement” referred to in the Articles of Association shall mean, as to the announcements published to the holders of unlisted domestic shares of the Company or the announcements required to be published in the PRC according to the relevant requirements and the Articles of Association, an announcement published on any newspaper in the PRC as stipulated under the laws and administrative regulations of the PRC or designated by the securities authority of the State Council.

For notices issued by the Company to the holders of overseas-listed foreign shares by way of announcement, the Company shall on the same day submit its electronic version available for real-time publication to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange through the e-submission system of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for release on the website of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in accordance with the listing rules of the stock exchange on which shares of the Company are listed, or publish an announcement in newspapers (including the publication of an advertisement in newspapers) in accordance with the local listing rules. The announcement shall at the same time also be published on the Company's website. In addition, unless otherwise required in the Articles of Association, the notice shall be delivered to each of the registered addresses as set forth in the register of holders of overseas-listed foreign shares by personal delivery or prepaid mail, so as to give the shareholders sufficient notice and time to exercise their rights or act in accordance with the terms of the notice.

Unless otherwise required in the Articles of Association, the Company's holders of overseas-listed foreign shares can, in writing, select to receive corporate communication by electronic means or by mail that the Company shall send to shareholders, and they can also select to receive Chinese or English version only, or both. Shareholders can give written notice in advance to the Company within reasonable time to revise the method and language version of receiving foregoing information under appropriate procedures.

Shareholders or Directors who wish to prove that certain notices, documents, information or written statements have been served on the Company shall provide evidence showing the same has been served to the correct address by ordinary means or by prepaid mail within the specified period of time.

Notwithstanding the aforesaid provision which specifies providing and/or dispatching written corporate communication to shareholders, as for the means by which the Company provides and/or dispatches its corporate communication to shareholders according to the listing rules of the stock exchange on which shares of the Company are listed, if the Company has obtained shareholders' prior written consent or deemed consent according to the relevant laws and regulations and the Hong Kong Listing Rules as amended from time to time, the Company may dispatch or provide corporate communication to its shareholders by electronic means or via its website according to the relevant laws and regulations as well as the Hong Kong Listing Rules as amended from time to time. Corporate communication includes, but not limited to, circulars, annual reports, interim reports, quarterly reports, notices of shareholders' general meetings, and other types of corporate communication as specified in the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

Article ~~154~~167 Subject to compliance with the relevant laws and regulations and the Listing Rules of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange as amended from time to time, where the Company issues a notice by public announcement, all relevant parties shall be deemed to have received such notice once the public announcement has been made.

Article ~~155~~168 The notice of the Company to convene a shareholders' general meeting shall be delivered by announcement or other forms of notice as stipulated in these Articles of Association.

The notice of the Company to convene a meeting of the Board ~~and a meeting of the Supervisory Committee~~ shall be delivered by hand, mail, facsimile or e-mail or by means of a data message that allows a tangible representation of the contents contained therein.

Where the relevant laws, administrative regulations, CSRC and the stock exchanges on which the Company's shares are listed have other provisions on the ways of notice of the above meeting, such provisions shall prevail.

Article ~~156~~169 For a notice of the Company delivered by hand, the notice shall be deemed to be received upon signing (or affixing the seal) by the recipient on the note of receipt and the receipt date shall be the date of serve. If the notice is delivered by post, it shall be deemed to have been received after 48 hours from the date the notice is delivered to the post office; If the notice is delivered by way of fax or email or by way of publishing information on websites, it shall be deemed to have been received on the date it is sent or published; If the notice is delivered by way of announcement, it shall be deemed to have been received on the date on which the announcement is first published.

Article ~~157~~¹⁷⁰ In the event that the laws, administrative regulations, and the listing rules of the stock exchange on which the Company's shares are listed stipulate that the Company shall send, post, distribute, issue, announce or otherwise provide relevant documents of the Company in English and Chinese, and if the Company has made appropriate arrangement to confirm whether the shareholders intend to receive either the English or the Chinese version, the Company may (as per the preference stated by the shareholders) only send the English version or the Chinese version to the shareholders concerned to the extent permitted by applicable law and regulations and pursuant to the applicable laws and regulations.

Article ~~158~~¹⁷¹ Accidental omission to give notice of a meeting to, or the non-receipt of notice of a meeting by, any parties entitled to receive such notice shall not invalidate the meeting and the resolutions passed at the meeting.

CHAPTER ~~IX~~ MERGER, DIVISION, CAPITAL INCREASE AND REDUCTION, DISSOLUTION AND LIQUIDATION

Section I Merger, Division, Capital Increase and Reduction

Article ~~159~~¹⁷² The Company may undergo combination in the form of merger or consolidation.

A company that absorbs other company is known as merger by absorption whereby the company being absorbed shall be dissolved. The merger of two or more companies by the establishment of a new company is known as merger by the establishment of a new company, whereby the merged companies shall be dissolved.

Article ~~160~~¹⁷³ Where the Company undergoes combination, all parties to the combination shall enter into a combination agreement, and prepare balance sheets and property checklists. The Company shall, within 10 days after making the decision of combination, notify the creditors, and shall make a public announcement on newspapers or National Enterprise Credit Information Publicity System within 30 days. The creditors may require the Company to repay its debts within 30 days after receiving the notice, or provide corresponding repayment guarantees within 45 days after the announcement if the creditors have not received the notice.

Article ~~161~~¹⁷⁴ When combination, any creditor's rights and indebtedness of the combined parties shall be assumed by the company which survives after the combination or the newly established company.

Article ~~162~~¹⁷⁵ Where the Company undergoes division, the property of the Company shall be divided accordingly.

If undergoing division, the Company shall prepare a balance sheet and a property checklist. After making a resolution on division, the Company shall notify creditors within 10 days, and publish an announcement on newspapers within 30 days.

Article ~~163~~¹⁷⁶ For the debts of the Company prior to the said division, the Company that survives thereafter shall bear the joint and several liabilities, unless otherwise specified in the written agreement which is concluded before the said division by the Company with its creditors on the settlement of the Company's debts.

Article ~~164~~¹⁷⁷ When the Company reduces its registered capital, it must prepare a balance sheet and an inventory of assets.

The Company shall notify its creditors within 10 days and publish an announcement in newspapers or National Enterprise Credit Information Publicity System within 30 days after the resolution approving the reduction has been made. The creditors shall have the right to require the Company to repay its debts within 30 days after receiving the notice, or provide corresponding repayment guarantees within 45 days after the announcement if the creditors have not received the notice.

The reduced registered capital of the Company shall not be less than the statutory minimum.

If the registered capital is reduced in violation of the provisions of the Company Law, the shareholders shall return the funds they have received, and the shareholders shall restore the capital contributions to the original state if their capital contribution are reduced or exempted; if losses are caused to the Company, the shareholders and Directors, ~~supervisors~~, and senior management personnel shall be liable for compensation.

Article ~~165~~¹⁷⁸ The Company shall, in accordance with the law, handle the procedures for change registration with the company registration authority where a change in any registration items arises as a result of any merger or division. In the event of dissolution of the Company, the Company shall handle the procedures for registration of cancellation in accordance with the law. In the event of establishment of a new company, the Company shall handle the procedures for registration of establishment in accordance with the law.

Where the Company increases or reduces its registered capital, the Company shall handle the procedures for change registration with the company registration authority in accordance with the law.

Section II Dissolution and Liquidation

Article ~~166179~~ The Company is dissolved due to the following reasons:

- (I) the term of its operation set out in the Articles of Association has expired (if applicable) or other events of dissolution specified in the Articles of Association have occurred;
- (II) the shareholders' general meeting has resolved to dissolve the Company;
- (III) the company is dissolved by reason of its merger or division;
- (IV) the business license is revoked, or the business is ordered to close down or is revoked, in accordance with the law;
- (V) where the Company encounters serious difficulties in its operation and management and its continuance shall cause a significant loss to the interest of shareholders, and where this cannot be resolved through other means, shareholders who hold more than 10% of the total shareholders' voting rights of the Company may present a petition to the People's Court for the dissolution of the Company.

Article ~~167180~~ In the event of item (I) in Article ~~166179~~, the Company may survive by amending its Articles of Association.

The amendments to the Articles of Association in accordance with the provisions described above shall require the approval of more than two-thirds of voting rights of shareholders attending a shareholders' general meeting.

Article ~~168181~~ Where the Company is dissolved under the provisions of items (I), (II), (IV), (V) in Article ~~166179~~, a liquidation committee shall be established and the liquidation shall commence within 15 days after the occurrence of an event of dissolution. The liquidation committee shall be composed of Directors or the persons determined by the shareholders' general meeting. If a liquidation committee is not established within the prescribed period, the creditors may file an application with the People's Court to appoint relevant personnel to form a liquidation committee to administer liquidation.

If a member of the liquidation committee fails to perform his duties of liquidation and causes losses to the Company, he shall be liable for compensation; if any member of the liquidation committee causes losses to the creditors intentionally or due to gross negligence, he shall be liable for compensation.

Article ~~169~~182 The liquidation committee shall exercise the following functions and powers during the liquidation period:

- (I) to sort out the Company's assets and prepare a balance sheet and an inventory of assets respectively;
- (II) to notify the creditors and make announcements;
- (III) to deal with and settle the outstanding business of the Company related to the liquidation;
- (IV) to pay all outstanding taxes and taxes arising in the course of liquidation;
- (V) to settle claims and debts;
- (VI) to deal with the remaining assets of the Company after its debts have been paid off;
- (VII) to represent the company in any civil procedures.

Article ~~170~~183 The liquidation committee shall notify creditors within ten days after its establishment and shall make announcements in newspapers or National Enterprise Credit Information Publicity System within 60 days. A creditor shall lodge his/her claim with the liquidation committee within 30 days after receiving the notice or within 45 days after the date of announcement if he/she did not receive the notice.

When declaring their claims, the creditors shall explain the matters related to their claims and provide supporting materials. The liquidation committee shall register the creditor's rights.

During the period of declaration of claims, the liquidation committee shall not settle any debts to creditors.

Article ~~171~~184 Upon liquidation of the Company's properties and the preparation of the balance sheet and inventory of assets, the liquidation committee shall draw up a liquidation plan and submit it to the shareholders' general meeting or the People's Court for confirmation.

For the remaining assets of the Company after payment of liquidation expenses, wages, social insurance expenses and statutory compensation of employees, outstanding taxes and the Company's debts shall be distributed to shareholders in proportion to their shareholdings.

During the liquidation period, the Company shall continue to exist but shall not carry out any business activities unrelated to the liquidation. The assets of the Company shall not be distributed to the shareholders before the settlements are made in accordance with the above provisions.

Article ~~172~~185 The liquidation committee, having thoroughly examined the Company's assets and having prepared a balance sheet and an inventory of assets, discovers that the Company's assets are insufficient to pay its debts in full, it shall apply to the People's Court for a declaration of insolvency in accordance with law.

Article ~~173~~186 After the People's Court has accepted the bankruptcy application, the liquidation committee shall hand over the affairs of the liquidation to the bankruptcy administrator designated by the People's Court. Upon completion of the liquidation, the liquidation committee shall prepare a liquidation report to be submitted to the shareholders' general meeting or the People's Court for confirmation, and then submit it to the company registration authority applying for cancelation of the Company's registration and announce the termination of the Company.

Article ~~174~~187 Members of the liquidation committee are required to discharge their duties honestly and in compliance with the relevant laws.

Members of the liquidation committee shall be prohibited from abusing their powers to accept bribes or other unlawful income and from misappropriating the Company's properties.

A member of the liquidation committee is liable to indemnify the Company and its creditors in respect of any loss arising from his/her willful or material default.

Article ~~175~~188 Where the Company is declared bankruptcy according to law, it shall carry out bankruptcy liquidation in accordance with relevant enterprise bankruptcy laws.

CHAPTER ~~XXI~~ AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

Article ~~176~~189 The Company shall amend the Articles of Association in any of the following circumstances:

- (I) after the amendment to the Company Law or any other relevant law or administrative regulation, any provision of the Articles of Association is in conflict with the amended law or administrative regulation;
- (II) any change of the Company results in inconsistency with the relevant provisions of the Articles of Association;
- (III) the shareholders' general meeting decides to amend the Articles of Association.

Article ~~177~~¹⁹⁰ Any amendment to the Articles of Association adopted by a resolution in a shareholders' general meeting that shall be examined and approved by the competent authority must be submitted to the competent authority for approval. Those involving the registered particulars of the Company shall be made for the change in registration in accordance with law.

Article ~~178~~¹⁹¹ The Board shall amend these Articles of Association pursuant to the resolution of shareholders in a shareholders' general meeting for amendment of these Articles of Association and the approval opinions of the competent authority.

CHAPTER ~~XIX~~ SUPPLEMENTARY PROVISIONS

Article ~~179~~¹⁹² Definition

- (1) Unless the context otherwise requires, in the Articles of Association, the term "accounting firm(s)" has/have the same meaning as the term "auditor(s)" under the Hong Kong Listing Rules.
- (2) A "controlling shareholder" shall refer to the shareholders holding shares representing more than 50% of the total capital of the Company; holding less than 50 % of shares in the Company, but the voting rights vested by the shares held by him/her have a material effect on any resolutions made at a shareholders' general meeting. Where the definition of controlling shareholder is otherwise provided in the Hong Kong Listing Rules, such provisions shall prevail.
- (3) A "de facto controller" refers to natural persons, legal persons or non-legal-person organizations who, through investment relationships, agreements, or other arrangements, may actually control the activities of the Company.
- (4) In the Articles of Association, a "connected relationship" and "connected transaction" has the meaning ascribed to it by the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

Article ~~180~~¹⁹³ Annexes to the Articles of Association include the rules of procedure for shareholders' general meeting, and the rules of procedure for the Board of Directors ~~and the rules of procedure for the supervisory committee.~~

Article ~~181~~¹⁹⁴ The Articles of Association are written in Chinese. In case of any discrepancy between the Articles of Association in any other language or different versions and the Articles of Association, the latest Chinese version filed with the Company's registration authority shall prevail.

Article ~~182~~195 In the Articles of Association, the terms “more than”, “below” and “within” shall all include the present figure; the terms “other than”, “lower”, “over”, “higher” and “insufficient” shall all exclude the present figure.

Article ~~183~~196 The Board of the Company shall be responsible for the interpretation of the Articles of Association.

Article ~~184~~197 The Articles of Association shall be effective and come into force from the date on which it was passed by Company’s general meeting. When amended, it shall take effect upon approval by a special resolution at a shareholders’ general meeting.

The English version of this Appendix is an unofficial translation of its Chinese version prepared for reference only.

The full text of the revised Rules of Procedure for the Board of Directors is set out as follows (with deletions shown with strike-through lines and newly added provisions shown with underlines):

TYK MEDICINES, INC

RULES OF PROCEDURES FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

CHAPTER I GENERAL PROVISIONS

Article 1 In order to further regulate the deliberation methods and decision-making procedures of the Board of Directors of TYK Medicines, Inc (hereinafter referred to as the “**Company**”), facilitate the effective performance of duties by the Directors and the Board of Directors, and enhance the regulated operation and scientific decision-making of the Board of Directors, these rules are formulated in accordance with the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China (hereinafter referred to as the “**Company Law**”), the Securities Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Trial Administrative Measures of Overseas Securities Offering and Listing by Domestic Companies, the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (hereinafter referred to as the “**Hong Kong Listing Rules**”), and other relevant provisions of relevant laws, administrative regulations and regulatory documents, as well as the Articles of Association of TYK Medicines, Inc (hereinafter referred to as the “**Articles of Association**”).

Article 2 The Board of Directors is a standing body of the Company and is accountable to the shareholders’ general meeting. It implements resolutions passed by the shareholders’ general meeting, safeguards the interests of the Company and all shareholders, and is responsible for decision-making concerning the Company’s development goals and major operational activities.

CHAPTER II DIRECTORS

Article 3 A Director shall be a natural person. A person who falls into any of the following circumstances shall not serve as a Director of the Company:

- (1) a person without or with limited capacity for civil conduct;
- (2) a person who has been sentenced to criminal punishment due to corruption, bribery, infringement of property, misappropriation of property or destruction of the socialist market economic order, or a person who has been deprived of his/her political rights due to a crime, where less than 5 years have elapsed since the date of completion of the sentence; or if the sentence has been probated, not more than 2 years since the expiration of the probation period~~where less than 5 years have elapsed since the date of completion of the sentence; or a person who has been deprived of his/her political rights due to a crime, where less than 5 years have elapsed since the date of completion of the sentence;~~
- (3) a person who was a Director, factory manager or manager~~chief executive officer~~ of a company or enterprise which has entered into insolvent liquidation and who was personally liable for the insolvency of such company or enterprise, where less than 3 years has elapsed since the date of the completion of the insolvency and liquidation of such company or enterprise;

- (4) a person who was legal representatives of a company or enterprise which had its business license revoked due to violation of the law and had been closed down by order, and who was personally liable, where less than 3 years has elapsed since the date on which the business license of the company or enterprise was revoked or the company or enterprise was ordered to close down;
- (5) a person who ~~has~~was listed as defaulter by the People's Court due to a relatively large amount of debts due and outstanding;
- (6) a person who is currently being prohibited from participating in securities market by the CSRC and such barring period has not elapsed;
- (7) other circumstances specified by laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules or the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

For any election and appointment of a Director in contravention of the provisions prescribed by this Article, such election, appointment or engagement shall be void and null. Where a Director falls into any of the aforesaid circumstances in his/her term of office, the Director shall be removed from office.

Article 4 Chief executive officer or other senior management may serve as the Director concurrently, provided that the Directors who act as chief executive officer or other senior management concurrently shall not exceed one half of the total Directors of the Company.

Article 5 Directors are elected or replaced by the shareholders' general meeting. The term of office of the Directors is 3 years, and they are eligible for re-election upon expiry of the term. Directors may be removed by the shareholders' general meeting before the expiry of the term.

The term of office of a Director shall commence from the date at which the Director is appointed until the expiry of the term of office of the current session of the Board of Directors. Where the re-election of Directors is not held in time after the term of office of the existing Directors has expired, the original Director shall, before the newly-elected Director assumes his/her post, perform duties as a Director in accordance with laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules and the Articles of Association.

Any person appointed by the Board of Directors to fill up a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board of Directors shall hold office only until the first annual shareholders' general meeting after his/her appointment, and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Any Director (including the chief executive officer or other executive Directors) can be removed before the expiry of his/her term of office by an ordinary resolution passed at a shareholders' general meeting, subject to compliance with the relevant laws and administrative regulations and the regulations of the stock exchange on which the Company's shares are listed. Such removal shall not affect the rights of such Director to make any claim for damages under any contract.

Directors shall take office ~~on the date on which~~ at the time specified in the relevant resolution of the shareholders' general meeting electing him/her as a Director ~~is passed~~; if the resolution of the shareholders' general meeting does not set out the term of office, the term of office of a Director shall be the date on which such Director is elected at the relevant shareholders' general meeting.

Article 6 Directors shall comply with laws, administrative regulations and the Articles of Association, and shall fulfill fiduciary obligations to the Company as follows:

- (1) not to abuse his/her position to accept bribes or other illegal income or misappropriate the properties of the Company;
- (2) not to misappropriate the funds of the Company;
- (3) not to set up accounts in his/her own name or in the name of any other person for the purpose of depositing any of the assets or funds of the Company;
- (4) not to lend funds of the Company to any other person or use the property of the Company to provide guarantee for any other person without the consent of the shareholders' general meeting or the Board of Directors in contravention of the provisions of the Articles of Association;
- (5) not to enter into contracts or transactions with the Company in contravention of the provisions of the Articles of Association or without the consent of the shareholders' general meeting;
- (6) not to, without the consent of the shareholders' general meeting, abuse his/her position to seize business opportunities for himself/herself or for other persons which shall otherwise belong to the Company, or operate a business similar to that of the Company for himself/herself or for other persons;
- (7) not to misappropriate commissions derived from transactions entered into by the Company;
- (8) not to disclose confidential information of the Company without permission;
- (9) not to abuse his/her connections with the Company to jeopardize the interests of the Company;
- (10) other fiduciary obligations as required by laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules, the securities regulatory rules in the place where the Company's shares are listed and the Articles of Association.

Any income derived by a Director in violation of the provisions of this Article shall belong to the Company. The Director shall be liable for indemnifying the Company against any loss incurred.

Article 7 Directors shall comply with laws, administrative regulations, the securities regulatory rules in the place where the Company's shares are listed and the Articles of Association and shall fulfill the following due diligence obligations:

- (1) to exercise the rights conferred by the Company with due discretion, care and diligence to ensure the business operations of the Company comply with the state's laws, administrative regulations and economic policies, not going beyond the scope of business specified in the Company's business license;
- (2) to treat all shareholders impartially;
- (3) to keep informed of the business operations and management of the Company;
- (4) to sign the regular reports of the Company for written confirmation (subject to the requirements of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange), and to ensure the information disclosed by the Company is true, accurate and complete;
- (5) to faithfully provide the ~~Audit~~^{Supervisory} Committee with relevant information, and not to interfere with the ~~Audit~~^{Supervisory} Committee or members of the Audit Committee~~supervisors~~ in performing their duties and powers;
- (6) to fulfill other due diligence obligations stipulated by laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules, the securities regulatory rules in the place where the Company's shares are listed and the Articles of Association.

Article 8 A Director who cannot attend the meetings of the Board of Directors in person twice consecutively nor appoints any other Directors to attend on his/her behalf is deemed as failure in performing his/her duties, and shall be subject to replacement as recommended by the Board of Directors at the shareholders' general meeting.

Article 9 A Director may request to resign before expiry of his/her term of office. The Director to resign shall submit to the Board of Directors a written report in relation to his/her resignation. The Board of Directors shall disclose the relevant information within the period stipulated in relevant laws and administrative regulations and the securities regulatory rules in the place where the Company's shares are listed.

In the event that the resignation of any Director results in the number of members of the Board of Directors falling below the quorum, the original ~~independent non-executive~~ Director shall continue to perform his/her duties in accordance with laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules, the securities regulatory rules in the place where the Company's shares are listed and the provisions of the Articles of Association until the re-elected Director assumes office.

Other than the circumstances referred to in the preceding paragraph, the resignation of a Director shall become effective upon submission of his/her resignation report to the Board of Directors.

Article 10 When a Director's resignation takes effect or his/her term of office expires, the Director shall complete all handover procedures with the Board of Directors, and his/her fiduciary duties to the Company and shareholders shall not be discharged after the termination of office, the duty of confidentiality of Directors in relation to trade secrets of the Company survives the termination of their tenure until such trade secrets become public. The duration of other duties of a Director that are not stipulated in the resolution of the shareholders' general meeting at which he/she is elected as a Director or in his/her contract of employment shall be determined in accordance with the principle of fairness, depending on the time lapse between the termination and the occurrence of the matter as well as the circumstances and conditions under which the relationship with the Company is terminated.

Article 11 Without the legal authorization by the Articles of Association or the Board of Directors, no Director shall act on behalf of the Company or the Board of Directors in his/her own name. Where a Director acts in his/her own name, the Director shall declare in advance his/her position and identity in the case that a third party would reasonably believe that the Director is acting on behalf of the Company or the Board of Directors.

Article 12 Any Director whose term of office has not expired shall be liable for compensation for any loss caused to the Company as a result of his/her unauthorized resignation.

Article 13 A Director shall bear the liability for compensation if losses are caused to the Company due to violating the provisions of laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules or the Articles of Association when performing their duties.

CHAPTER III THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Article 14 The Company shall have a Board of Directors, which shall be accountable to the shareholders' general meeting.

Article 15 The Board of Directors consists of 10~~11~~ members, 4 of whom are independent non-executive Directors. At any time, the Board of Directors shall consist of more than 1/3 independent non-executive Directors. The Board of Directors shall have a chairperson and no vice-chairperson.

Article 16 The Board of Directors shall establish the audit committee, the nomination committee, the remuneration and appraisal committee and the scientific committee in accordance with the resolutions of the shareholders' general meeting. The Board of Directors may set up other special committees with the consent of the shareholders' general meeting.

Article 17 The chairperson shall be a Director of the Company and elected by more than half of all the Directors of the Board of Directors.

Article 18 The chairperson shall exercise the following powers:

- (1) to preside over shareholders' general meetings and convene and preside over meetings of the Board of Directors;
- (2) to supervise and inspect the implementation of resolutions of the Board of Directors;
- (3) to sign important documents of the Board of Directors;
- ~~(4) to exercise the power of the authorized representative;~~
- (45) to exercise the power to handle corporate affairs in accordance with the law and in the interest of the Company in cases of emergency caused by major natural disasters or other force majeure, and report to the Board of Directors and the shareholders' general meeting thereafter;
- (56) other powers authorized by the Board of Directors.

Article 19 Where the chairperson of the Company is unable to or does not perform his/her duties, a Director nominated by ~~more than half a~~ simple majority of the Directors shall perform his/her duties.

Article 20 The Board of Directors shall exercise the following powers:

- (1) to convene shareholders' general meetings and report its work to the shareholders' general meetings;
- (2) to implement the resolutions of the shareholders' general meeting;
- (3) to decide on the Company's business plans and investment plans;
- (4) to review and approve~~formulate~~ the Company's annual financial budget and final accounts;
- (5) to formulate the Company's profit distribution plan and loss recovery plan;
- (6) to formulate the proposals for increase or reduction of the registered capital and the issuance and listing of bonds or other securities of the Company;

- (7) to formulate plans for material acquisitions, purchase of the Company's shares, merger, division, dissolution and change of corporate form of the Company;
- (8) to decide on the Company's external investment, acquisition and disposal of assets, pledge of assets, external guarantees, entrusted financial management, connected transactions, external donations and other matters within the scope authorized by the shareholders' general meeting;
- (9) to determine the establishment of the Company's internal management structure;
- (10) to decide on the appointment or dismissal of the Company's chief executive officer, secretary to the Board of Directors and senior management, and decide on matters of remuneration, rewards and punishments; to decide on appointment or dismissal of the Company's vice president, financial officer and other senior management based on nomination by the chief executive officer, and to decide on their remuneration, rewards and punishments;
- (11) to formulate the Company's basic management system;
- (12) to formulate proposals for any amendment to the Articles of Association;
- (13) to manage the information disclosure of the Company;
- (14) to propose to the shareholders' general meeting the appointment or replacement of the accounting firm that provides audit service to the Company;
- (15) to listen to the work report of the chief executive officer of the Company and inspect the work of the chief executive officer;
- (16) other functions and powers conferred by laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules, the Articles of Association and the shareholders' general meeting.

~~The Board of Directors shall exercise the above powers by convening Board Meetings to deliberate and decide upon matters, with implementation only after the passing of the Board resolutions.~~ Matters beyond the scope of authorization given by the shareholders' general meeting shall be submitted to the shareholders' general meeting for consideration.

Article 21 The Board of Directors of the Company shall explain to the shareholders' general meeting the non-standard audit opinions on the financial report of the Company issued by the certified accountant in accordance with the relevant laws, administrative regulations and the securities regulatory rules in the place where the Company's shares are listed.

Article 22 The Board of Directors shall determine the authority of external investments, acquisition and disposal of assets, pledge of assets, external guarantees, entrusted financial management, connected transactions, external donations, etc.; and establish strict review and decision-making procedures. As to substantial investments, experts or professionals shall be engaged for evaluation and shall be reported to the shareholders' general meeting for approval.

Article 23 An office of the Board of Directors shall be established under the Board of Directors to handle daily affairs of the Board of Directors.

Article 24 The Board of Directors shall have a secretary. The secretary to the Board of Directors is a member of the senior management of the Company, and is in charge of preparing the shareholders' general meeting and the Board meeting, keeping files, and managing the ~~data~~information regarding the shareholders of the Company, as well as dealing with information disclosure and other matters. The secretary to the Board of Directors shall serve concurrently as the officer in charge of the Board office, ~~and keep the seals of the Board of Directors and the Board office.~~ The secretary to the Board of Directors may designate the securities affairs representative or other relevant personnel to assist in dealing with day-to-day affairs.

The secretary to the Board of Directors shall comply with the relevant provisions of laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules and the Articles of Association.

~~**Article 25** The Board of Directors shall formulate working rules of the secretary to the Board of Directors, which shall take effect and be implemented upon review and approval at a Board meeting.~~

CHAPTER IV THE BOARD MEETINGS

Article 26~~25~~ Board meetings are divided into regular meetings and extraordinary meetings.

Article 27~~26~~ The Board of Directors shall convene regular Board meeting at least four times each year. The meeting shall be convened by the chairperson and all the Directors ~~and supervisors~~ shall be notified in writing at least 14 days prior to the meeting.

Article 28~~27~~ Any shareholder holding more than one tenth voting rights, more than one third of the Directors or the ~~Audit~~Supervisory Committee may propose the holding of an extraordinary meeting of the Board of Directors. The chairperson shall convene and preside over the Board meeting within 10 days upon receipt of the proposal.

Article 29~~28~~ For holding of an extraordinary meeting of the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors shall give a written notice to all the Directors three days before the meeting is held. In case of emergency and an extraordinary meeting of the Board of Directors is required to be convened as soon as possible, the notice of meeting may be given by telephone or by other means at any time, but the convener shall provide an explanation at the meeting.

Article 3029 Before issuing a notice convening a regular meeting of the Board of Directors, the Board office shall fully solicit the opinions from all Directors and, as appropriate, the chief executive officer and other members of the senior management, and formulate a preliminary proposal to be submitted to the chairperson for finalization. Before finalizing the proposal, the chairperson shall, where necessary, solicit the opinions from the chief executive officer and other members of the senior management.

Article 3130 A notice of the Board meeting shall at least include the following details:

- (1) date and venue of the meeting;
- (2) duration of the meeting;
- (3) purpose and matters to be discussed;
- (4) date of issue of the notice.

A verbal notice of a meeting shall include at least the above items (1) and (2), along with an explanation for an extraordinary meeting of the Board of Directors in an emergency.

The resolutions to be proposed at the Board meeting, together with the meeting notice, shall be delivered to the Directors and relevant attendees.

Board meetings shall be convened on-site in principle. On the basis of fully safeguarding the rights of Directors to be informed and to express their opinions, and with the consent of the convener and proposer, the meeting may also be convened and resolutions may be passed by voting through video, telephone, circulation of written resolutions, email, or other means, and signed by the attending Directors.

Article 3231 After issuing written notice of a regular Board meeting, should any changes to the time, venue or other matters of the meeting be required, or should any proposals need to be added, amended or withdrawn, a written notice of such change shall be issued 3 days prior to the original date of the meeting. Such notice shall detail the circumstances and include the content of the new proposal and related materials. If the notice of change is issued less than 3 days, the meeting date shall be postponed accordingly, or the meeting may proceed as scheduled only with the consent of all attending Directors.

After issuing the notice of an extraordinary Board meeting, should any changes to the time, place or other matters of the meeting be required, or should any proposals need to be added, amended or withdrawn, prior consent of all attending Directors shall be obtained and appropriate records must be maintained.

If two or more independent non-executive Directors believe that the meeting-related materials provided are incomplete or the arguments are insufficient, they may jointly propose in writing to the Board of Directors to postpone the meeting or postpone the deliberation of relevant matters. The Board of Directors shall adopt the proposal and disclose the relevant circumstances in a timely manner.

Article 3332 The Board meetings shall be convened and presided over by the chairperson, or a Director nominated by a simple majority~~more than half~~ of the Directors where the chairperson is unable to or fails to perform his/her duties.

Article 3433 The quorum of Board meeting shall consist of a simple majority of the Directors.

~~The supervisors may attend Board meetings, and the chief executive officer and secretary to the Board of Directors shall attend Board meetings, and the persons related to the matters under discussion may attend the meetings as required. Attendees shall be entitled to express their opinions on the relevant matters but shall not have the right to vote.~~

Article 3534 Directors shall attend Board meetings in person. Where a Director is unable to attend a meeting for any reason, he/she may by a written power of attorney appoint another Director to attend the meeting on his/her behalf. The power of attorney shall set out the name of the proxy, the subject~~and~~, the scope of authorization~~authority~~ and the period of the validity of the power of attorney, which shall be signed or officially sealed by the authorizing party. A Director appointed as the representative of another Director to attend the meeting shall exercise the rights of a Director within the scope of authority conferred by the appointing Director. Where a Director is unable to attend a Board meeting and has not appointed a proxy to attend the meeting on his/her behalf, he/she shall be deemed to have waived his/her right to vote at the meeting.

The power of attorney shall include, as appropriate:

- (1) the names of the appointer and the proxy;
- (2) the salient opinion of the appointer on each proposal;
- (3) the scope of authorization and instruction on voting on proposals by the appointer;
- (4) the appointer's signature and date of such instrument.

Where a Director authorizes another Director to sign written confirmations of opinion on periodical reports, he/she shall be specifically authorized in the power of attorney.

The authorized Director shall submit the written power of attorney to the chairperson of the meeting, and explain proxy attendance in the attendance book.

Article 3635 The appointing Director and the proxy to attend a Board meeting shall comply with the following principles:

- (1) where connected transactions are considered, a non-connected Director shall not appoint a connected Director to attend the meeting on his/her behalf, and a connected Director shall also not accept the appointment of a non-connected Director;
- (2) an independent non-executive Director shall not appoint a Director who is not an independent non-executive Director to attend the meeting on his/her behalf, and a Director who is not an independent non-executive Director shall not accept the appointment from an independent non-executive Director;
- (3) a Director shall not give any other Director carte blanche to attend the meeting and vote on his/her behalf without providing his/her own opinions and voting intent on the proposals, nor shall the Director accept the carte blanche or any appointments that are not well defined;
- (4) one Director shall not accept appointment by more than two Directors, nor shall a Director appoint any other Director who has been appointed by two other Directors to attend the meeting and vote on his/her behalf.

Article 3736 Board meetings shall be convened on-site in principle. On the premise of ensuring the rights of full expression of opinions by the Directors to, among other things, stay informed and fully express their opinions, and with the consent of the convener and proposer, the meeting may also be convened by voting through video, telephone, ~~facsimile~~, email, or other means. Board meetings may also be convened in the form of a combination of physical meeting and other methods.

For meetings not convened on-site, the number of attending Directors shall be counted according to the Directors shown at the videoconference, the Directors expressing their views at the conference call, valid votes actually received by ~~fax or~~ email within the specified timeframe, or written confirmations submitted afterward by the Directors attesting to their prior participation in the meeting.

The attending Directors shall sign the ballots, the resolution of the meeting and the minutes of the meeting and other documents.

Article 3837 Proposals for regular meetings

Before issuing a notice convening a regular Board meeting, the Board office shall fully solicit the opinions from all Directors, and formulate a preliminary proposal to be submitted to the chairperson for finalization.

Before finalizing the proposal, the chairperson shall, where necessary, solicit the opinions from the chief executive officer and other members of the senior management.

Proposals by the Board of Directors shall comply with the following conditions:

- (1) the content shall not contravene any provisions of laws, regulations, normative documents and the Articles of Association and falls within the terms of reference of the Board of Directors;
- (2) have specified subjects and specific matters to be resolved.

Article 3938 A proposal for convening an extraordinary Board meeting shall be in written form and affixed with the signature (seal) of the proposer and submitted to the Board office or directly to the chairperson. A written proposal shall specify:

- (1) the name of the proposer;
- (2) the reasons for the proposal or the facts on which the proposal is based;
- (3) time or duration, venue and form of the proposed meeting;
- (4) clear and concrete information in relation to the proposal;
- (5) the contact details of the proposer and date of proposal.

The content of the proposal shall be those fall within the terms of reference of the Board of Directors as specified in the Articles of Association, and the materials relating to the proposal shall be submitted together with the proposal itself.

The Board office shall transfer the aforesaid proposal and related documents on the next business day of receipt of the same to the secretary to the Board of Directors and the chairperson. Where the secretary to the Board of Directors or the chairperson deems the content of a proposal to be unclear or unspecific, or the relevant materials to be inadequate, they may request the proposer to amend or supplement the proposal.

The proposer of an extraordinary Board meeting may also make a proposal in non-written form through the Board office or directly to the chairperson, provided that the relevant matters are fully explained.

Article 4039 Directors and the chief executive officer may put forward any proposal to the Board of Directors prior to the meeting. The proposer shall, within 3 days prior to a regular Board meeting or before sending out the notice of an extraordinary Board meeting, render the proposal to the secretary to the Board of Directors. Then the chairperson shall decide whether to include the proposal on the agenda of the Board of Directors for consideration. If a proposal is submitted to the Board of Directors pursuant to the provisions above and the chairperson determines to consider the proposal, the secretary to the Board of Directors shall, after the notice of the Board meeting has been sent, issue a notice of change in accordance with relevant provisions hereof.

If the chairperson fails to include the proposal submitted by the proposer on the agenda of the Board of Directors for consideration, the chairperson shall explain the reasons to the proposer. If the proposer disagrees, the Board of Directors shall decide whether to include the proposal on the agenda of the Board of Directors for consideration by votes representing a simple majority of the Directors.

Article 4140 Where a Board meeting needs to resolve on profit distribution of the Company, the distribution pre-proposal to be submitted to the Board of Directors for deliberation can be first brought to the attention of a certified public accountant, who shall issue an audit report draft accordingly as requested (all financial data except those involving profit distribution have been determined). The Board of Directors, after the profit distribution resolution is adopted, shall ask the certified public accountant to issue a formal audit report and then adopt resolutions on other relevant issues of the regular reports based on the formal audit report issued by the certified public accountant.

Article 4241 Any material connected transaction or the engagement or dismissal of the accountants shall be submitted to the Board of Directors for consideration with the consent of more than one-half of the independent non-executive Directors.

Article 4342 The chairperson of the meeting shall ask the attending Directors one by one to express definite opinions on respective proposals.

For any proposal requiring prior consent of independent non-executive Directors, the chairperson of the meeting shall, before discussing the relevant proposal, appoint one independent non-executive Director to read the written consent of independent non-executive Directors.

The chairperson of the meeting shall promptly stop any Director from hindering the normal progress of the meeting or affecting the speech of other Directors.

The Board meeting shall not vote on any proposal not included in the notice of the meeting unless with the unanimous consent of the attending Directors. When a proxy Director attends the meeting, he/she shall not vote on any proposal which is not included in the notice of the meeting on behalf of other Directors.

Article 4443 The Directors shall carefully read the materials to be tabled at the meeting and express their well-informed, independent and discreet opinions.

The Directors may, before the meeting, inquire about information necessary for decision making from relevant persons or institutions such as the Board office, convener of the meeting, the chief executive officer and other members of the senior management, special committees, accounting firms or law firms, and may, while the meeting is underway, suggest the chairperson of the meeting to invite the aforesaid persons or representatives of institutions to give explanations at the meeting.

Article 4544 After adequate discussion, the chairperson shall put each resolution to the vote of the attending Directors.

Any resolution of the Board of Directors shall be made on a one-person-one-vote basis and voted by filling out ballot papers or by show of hands.

The voting intentions of Directors are approval, disapproval, and abstention. Directors present at the meeting shall select one of the intentions above. In case of failure, or if two or more intentions are selected at the same time, the chairperson of the meeting shall request relevant Directors to reselect. Otherwise, the vote will be regarded as a waiver. If a Director leaves the venue halfway without any selection, the Director shall be deemed as abstention. If the circumstance above occurs when a meeting is held remotely, the convener or the secretary to the Board of Directors may request relevant Directors to re-select within a reasonable time limit, failing which the Director shall be deemed as abstention.

Article 4645 Upon voting by Directors present at the meeting, in case of voting by written ballots, the representative for securities-related affairs and relevant staff of the Board office shall promptly collect the votes of Directors, and submit them to the secretary to the Board of Directors for vote counting under the supervision of other Directors.

If a meeting is held on-site, the chairperson of the meeting shall call out the counting results on the spot while counting the ballots. In other cases, however, the chairperson of the meeting shall request the secretary to the Board of Directors to notify the Directors of the voting results ahead of the next working day after the end of the stipulated time limit of voting.

Where a Director votes after the chairperson calls out the voting result or the stipulated time limit of voting expires, the voting results will not be counted.

Article 4746 A resolution of the Board of Directors shall be passed by more than half of all the Directors. Pursuant to the Articles of Association, for guarantee matters within the scope of authority of the Board of Directors and other related matters stipulated in the Articles of Association and other systems of the Company, in addition to being approved by a simple majority of all the Directors, such matters shall also be approved by more than two-thirds of the Directors present at the Board meeting. For a resolution required to be voted on at an extraordinary meeting of the Board of Directors, if the Board of Directors has sent the resolution to be voted on in writing (including by fax and email) to all Directors and ensured that the Directors are able to fully express their opinions, the voting may be carried out by way of communication without convening a Board meeting. Nevertheless, for the resolution to be passed, the number of Directors who sign and approve the resolution shall reach the number of Directors as required to make such decision under these rules.

Where a Director or his/her associates (as defined in the Hong Kong Listing Rules in force from time to time) are related~~connected~~ or interested in a matter or enterprise which is the subject of a resolution at Board meeting, unless permitted by laws and regulations and the securities regulatory rules in the place where the Company's shares are listed: (1) such Director shall abstain from voting on the resolution and shall not vote on behalf of other Directors; (2) such Director shall not be counted for the purpose of determining whether or not a quorum is present at such Board meeting. The Board meeting may be held with the presence of more than half of the non-connected Directors, resolutions at the Board meeting shall be passed by more than half of the non-connected Directors; (3) if the number of non-connected Directors attends the Board meeting is less than three, the matter shall be submitted to the shareholders' general meeting for consideration.

The vote of the Board of Directors on “connected transactions” under the Hong Kong Listing Rules shall comply with the relevant provisions of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

The chairperson of the meeting shall decide whether the resolution of the Board of Directors is passed according to the voting results, and shall announce the voting results at the meeting. The voting results of resolutions shall be recorded in the minutes.

Article 4847 If the chairperson of the meeting has any doubts as to the result of a resolution which has been put to vote, he/she may have the votes counted. If the chairperson of the meeting has not counted the votes, any Director present at the meeting who objects to the result announced by the chairperson of the meeting may, immediately after the declaration, demand that the votes be counted, and the chairperson of the meeting shall have the votes counted immediately.

Article 4948 A resolution shall be made at the Board meeting. All Directors present at the meeting shall sign on and assume responsibility for the resolution of the Board of Directors. The resolution of the Board of Directors shall kept by the secretary to the Board of Directors as company files.

If a proposal of the Board of Directors violates laws, regulations or the Articles of Association, resulting in any loss to the Company, the Directors participating in the proposal shall be liable for compensation to the Company. However, if a Director has raised his/her objection during the voting, which was recorded in the meeting minutes and can be proved, the Director may be exempted from such liability. If a Director neither attends the meeting nor appoints any proxy or provides written opinions on the matters discussed at or prior to the Board meeting, he/she shall be deemed to have no objections, and shall not be exempted from liability therefor.

Article 5049 The Board meeting shall have meeting minutes, recording in sufficient detail the matters considered and decisions reached thereat, including the following contents:

- (1) the date and venue of the meeting and the name of the convener;
- (2) the names of the attending Directors and the Directors (proxies) attending the meeting on behalf of others;
- (3) the agenda of the meeting;
- ~~(4) —any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting views (if any) expressed;~~
- ~~(5)~~(4) the highlights of the Directors’ speeches (if any);
- ~~(6)~~(5) the voting method and result of each resolution (the result shall specify the number of votes for, against and abstaining).

Draft and final versions of minutes of Board meetings were sent to all the Directors for their comment and record respectively, in both cases within a reasonable time after the Board meeting was held. The attending Directors and the person taking the minutes shall sign the minutes of such meetings. Any attending Director is entitled to request that an explanatory note be made with regard to his/her speech in the meeting.

Article 5150 Archives of the Board of Directors, including meeting notices and meeting materials, attendance book, power of attorney for Directors to attend as a proxy of other Directors, votes, minutes, meeting records, resolution records and resolution announcements signed and confirmed by Directors present, shall be kept by the secretary to the Board of Directors for at least 10 years. Such minutes shall be available for inspection by any Director at any reasonable time on reasonable notice.

Article 5251 Announcement of resolutions of the Board of Directors shall be made by the secretary to the Board of Directors pursuant to relevant requirements under the Hong Kong Listing Rules. Prior to the announcement of resolutions, Directors present, participants, recording and service personnel, etc. are obliged to keep the content of resolutions confidential.

Article 5352 The chairperson shall prompt relevant personnel to implement the resolutions of the Board of Directors, and inspect the implementation as well. Besides, the chairperson shall report the implementation of the resolutions that have been made in the subsequent meetings.

CHAPTER V SUPPLEMENTARY PROVISIONS

Article 5453 The Board of Directors may amend these rules pursuant to the provisions of relevant laws, regulations and regulatory documents as well as the Articles of Association, and submit the amendment to the shareholders' general meeting for approval.

Article 5554 Matters not covered herein shall be subject to relevant provisions of relevant national laws, administrative regulations, regulatory documents, listing rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed and the Articles of Association. In the event of any inconsistency between the provisions herein and relevant laws, administrative regulations, regulatory documents, listing rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed and the Articles of Association, the provisions thereof shall prevail.

Article 5655 The terms "more than", "below" and "within" used herein shall all include the present figure; the terms "other than", "lower" and "over" shall all exclude the present figure.

Article 5756 The Board of Directors shall be responsible for the interpretation of these rules.

Article 5857 These rules shall take effect and be implemented upon approval by the shareholders' general meeting of the Company ~~and the date on which the Company issues its foreign-invested shares (H-shares) for overseas listing and applies for listing on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.~~

TYK Medicines, Inc

The English version of this Appendix is an unofficial translation of its Chinese version prepared for reference only.

The full text of the revised Rules of Procedure for Shareholders' General Meetings is set out as follows (with deletions shown with strike-through lines and newly added provisions shown with underlines):

TYK Medicines, Inc

RULES OF PROCEDURE FOR SHAREHOLDERS'
GENERAL MEETINGS

CHAPTER I GENERAL PROVISIONS

Article 1 For the purpose of safeguarding the legitimate rights and interests of the shareholders of TYK Medicines, Inc (hereinafter referred to as the “**Company**”), clarifying the duties and authorities of the Company’s shareholders’ general meetings, and ensuring the lawful exercise of their functions and powers, these Rules are formulated in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China (hereinafter referred to as the “**Company Law**”), the Securities Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Trial Administrative Measures of Overseas Securities Offering and Listing by Domestic Companies (《境內企業境外發行證券和上市管理試行辦法》), the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (hereinafter referred to as the “**Hong Kong Listing Rules**”), and other relevant laws, administrative regulations and normative documents, as well as the Articles of Association of TYK Medicines, Inc (hereinafter referred to as the “**Articles of Association**”).

Article 2 The Company shall convene shareholders’ general meetings in strict accordance with the relevant provisions of relevant laws, regulations, normative documents, securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company’s shares are listed, as well as the Articles of Association and these Rules to ensure that shareholders are able to exercise their rights in accordance with the law.

The Company’s Board of Directors shall diligently perform its duties and organize shareholders’ general meetings in a serious and timely manner.

All directors of the Company shall diligently fulfil their duties to ensure that shareholders’ general meetings are convened properly and that they exercise their functions and powers in accordance with the law.

Article 3 The shareholders’ general meeting shall be the authority power of the Company. It may exercise its functions and powers within the scope prescribed by the Company Law and other relevant laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules, securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company’s shares are listed and the Articles of Association.

Article 4 Shareholders’ general meetings shall be divided into annual shareholders’ general meetings and extraordinary shareholders’ general meetings.

The annual shareholders' general meeting shall be held once in each year, and be held within six months after the end of each financial year.

An extraordinary shareholders' general meeting shall be convened within two months from the date of occurrence of any of the following events:

- (I) the number of the Directors is less than the minimum number required by the Company Law or less than two-thirds of the number stipulated in the Articles of Association;
- (II) the unrecovered loss of the Company amounts to one-third of the Company's total paid-up share capital;
- (III) on a one share one vote basis, when shareholder(s) who individually or jointly holds 10% or more voting rights attached to the Company's share capital requests to convene such a meeting (the shareholding shall be calculated as per the shares of the Company held by the shareholder on the date when such written request is made by such shareholder);
- (IV) the Board of Directors considers it necessary;
- (V) the ~~Supervisory~~Audit Committee proposes to convene such a meeting;
- (VI) any other circumstances as provided for by laws, administrative regulations, normative documents, securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed or the Articles of Association.

CHAPTER II CONVENING OF SHAREHOLDERS' GENERAL MEETINGS

Article 5 The Board of Directors shall convene shareholders' general meetings in a timely manner within the timeframe specified in Article 4 of these Rules.

Article 6 Independent non-executive Directors have the right to propose that the Board of Directors convene extraordinary shareholders' general meetings. The Board of Directors shall reply in writing regarding the acceptance or refusal to convene an extraordinary shareholders' general meeting within 10 days upon receiving the proposal in accordance with the requirements of laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules, securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed and the Articles of Association.

If the Board of Directors agrees to convene an extraordinary shareholders' general meeting, notice convening the meeting shall be issued within 5 days after the Board of Directors resolved to do so. If the Board of Directors does not agree to convene an extraordinary shareholders' general meeting, reasons shall be provided and make an announcement.

Article 7 The SupervisoryAudit Committee has the right to propose that the Board of Directors convene an extraordinary shareholders' general meeting and such a proposal shall be made in writing. The Board of Directors shall reply in writing regarding the acceptance or refusal to convene an extraordinary shareholders' general meeting within 10 days upon receiving the request in accordance with the requirements of laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules, securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed and the Articles of Association.

If the Board of Directors agrees to convene an extraordinary shareholders' general meeting, notice convening the extraordinary shareholders' general meeting shall be issued within 5 days after the Board of Directors resolved to do so. Should there be alterations to the original proposal in the notice, consent shall be obtained from the SupervisoryAudit Committee.

If the Board of Directors does not agree to convene an extraordinary shareholders' general meeting or does not reply within 10 days upon receiving the proposal, the Board of Directors will be considered as unable or failed to perform the duty to convene shareholders' general meetings and the SupervisoryAudit Committee may convene and preside over the meeting by itself.

Article 8 On the basis of one share one vote, shareholders individually or collectively holding ~~more than~~ 10% or more of the voting rights attached to the Company's share capital have the right to request the Board of Directors to convene an extraordinary shareholders' general meeting by way of written request(s). The Board of Directors shall reply in writing regarding the acceptance or refusal to convene an extraordinary shareholders' general meeting within 10 days upon receiving the request in accordance with the requirements of laws, administrative regulations, securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed and the Articles of Association.

If the Board of Directors agrees to convene an extraordinary shareholders' general meeting, notice convening the meeting shall be issued within 5 days after the Board of Directors resolved to do so. Should there be alterations to the original proposal in the notice, consent shall be obtained from the related shareholders.

If the Board of Directors does not agree to convene an extraordinary shareholders' general meeting, or does not reply within 10 days upon receiving the request, shareholders individually or collectively holding ~~more than~~ 10% or more of voting rights attached to the Company's share capital have the right to request the SupervisoryAudit Committee to convene an extraordinary shareholders' general meeting by way of written request(s).

If the SupervisoryAudit Committee agrees to convene an extraordinary shareholders' general meeting, notice convening the meeting shall be issued within 5 days upon receiving the request. Should there be alterations to the original proposal in the notice, consent shall be obtained from the related shareholders.

If the Supervisory Audit Committee does not issue notice of the shareholders' general meeting within the required timeframe, it will be regarded as that the Supervisory Audit Committee will not convene and preside over the shareholders' general meeting, and shareholders individually or collectively holding ~~more than~~ 10% ~~or more~~ of voting rights attached to the Company's share capital for 90 consecutive days have the right to convene and preside over the meeting by themselves.

Article 9 The Supervisory Audit Committee or shareholders, if decided to convene shareholders' general meetings on their own, shall inform the Board of Directors in writing and make filing with the securities regulatory authority of the place where the Company's shares are listed and the stock exchange where the Company's shares are listed in accordance with applicable regulations for record (if necessary).

Prior to the publication of announcement of the shareholders' resolutions, holding by the convening shareholders shall not be less than 10%.

The Supervisory Audit Committee or shareholders convening the meeting shall provide relevant evidences to the securities regulatory authority of the place where the Company's shares are listed and the stock exchange where the Company's shares are listed in accordance with applicable regulations (if necessary) prior to issuing the notice of shareholders' general meeting and announcing resolutions of the shareholders' general meeting.

Article 10 Where a shareholders' general meeting is convened by the Supervisory Audit Committee or shareholders on its/their own, the Board of Directors and the secretary to the Board of Directors shall work in a cooperative manner. The Board of Directors shall provide the register of shareholders prepared on the date of record date. ~~If the Board of Directors fails to provide the register of shareholders;~~

Article 11 Where a shareholders' general meeting is convened by the Supervisory Audit Committee or shareholders on its/their own, the expenses necessary for the shareholders' general meeting shall be borne by the Company.

CHAPTER III PROPOSALS AND NOTICES OF SHAREHOLDERS' GENERAL MEETINGS

Article 12 The content of the proposal shall fall within the functions and powers of the shareholders' general meeting and have specified subjects and specific matters to be resolved, and shall comply with the provisions of laws, administrative regulations, the Hong Kong Listing Rules and the Articles of Association.

Article 13 When the Company convenes a shareholders' general meeting, the Board of Directors, the ~~Supervisory~~Audit Committee or on the basis of one share one vote, shareholders individually or collectively holding more than 13% of voting rights attached to the Company's share capital shall have the right to propose proposals.

Shareholders individually or collectively holding more than 13% ~~of~~ voting rights attached to the Company's share capital shall be entitled to propose provisional proposals and submit ~~the same to the Board of Directors~~ in writing 10 days prior to date of the meeting. Provisional proposals shall have clear agenda and specific resolutions. The Board of Directors shall dispatch a supplementary notice of the shareholders' general meeting and advise the content of such provisional proposals within 2 days upon receipt of the proposals, unless the provisional proposals violate laws, administrative regulations or provisions of the Articles of Association, or do not fall within the scope of the shareholders' general meeting. The Company shall not increase the shareholding of shareholders who submit the provisional proposals ~~convener. The convener shall dispatch a supplementary notice of the shareholders' general meeting within 2 days upon receipt of the provisional proposals and announce the name of the shareholder submitting such provisional proposals, shareholding percentage and the content of such provisional proposals.~~

Unless otherwise required by the preceding paragraph, the convener shall not amend the proposals listed in the aforesaid notice or add any new proposals subsequent to the dispatch of a notice of the shareholders' general meeting.

The shareholders' general meeting shall not vote and adopt a resolution on any proposal that is not listed in the notice of meeting or that is inconsistent with Article 123 hereof.

Article 14 The convener shall give 21 days' prior notice of an annual shareholders' general meeting, and 15 days' prior notice of an extraordinary meeting by way of written announcement.

In determining the commencement date and the period, the date on which the meeting is held shall not be included.

After the notice of a shareholders' meeting is made and before the meeting is convened, the convener may, in accordance with the Company Law and relevant provisions, issue a second notice.

Article 15 The notice of a shareholders' general meeting shall include the following:

- (I) the time, venue and duration of the meeting;
- (II) the matters and proposals submitted to the meeting;

- (III) a conspicuous statement that all shareholders are entitled to attend the shareholders' general meeting and vote, and the shareholder may appoint a proxy in writing to attend the meeting and vote on his/her behalf and that a proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company;
- (IV) the record date for determining the shareholders who are entitled to attend the shareholders' general meeting;
- (V) the names and telephone numbers of the standing contact persons for the meeting.

Article 16 When the shareholders' general meeting intends to discuss the election of the Directors ~~and supervisors~~, the notice of the meeting shall fully disclose the details of the candidates for the Directors ~~and supervisors~~, including, as a minimum, the following content:

- (I) personal particulars such as education background, working experience and any concurrent positions;
- (II) whether the candidate has any connected relationship with the Company or its controlling shareholder and de facto controller;
- (III) disclose the number of shares of the Company held by the candidate;
- (IV) any penalties imposed by the CSRC and other relevant authorities and punishments imposed by the stock exchanges;
- (V) other information required by the relevant laws, administrative regulations, the CSRC and the stock exchanges where the Company's shares are listed.

Unless a Director ~~or supervisor~~ is elected via the cumulative voting system, each candidate for Director ~~or supervisor~~ shall be proposed via a single proposal.

Article 17 A notice of the shareholders' general meeting shall specify the time and place of the meeting and fix the record date. The interval between the record date and the date of the meeting shall not exceed 7 business days.

Article 18 Subsequent to the dispatch of a notice of the shareholders' general meeting, the shareholders' general meeting shall not be postponed or cancelled without proper reasons, and the proposals set out in the notice of the shareholders' general meeting shall not be withdrawn. Once the meeting is postponed or cancelled, the convener shall make an announcement to explain the reason at least 2 workings days prior to the originally scheduled date for the meeting. For the shareholders' general meetings postponed, the convening date of the meeting shall also be included in the notice.

CHAPTER IV CONVENING OF SHAREHOLDERS' GENERAL MEETINGS

Article 19 The Company shall convene the shareholders' general meetings at the Company's place of domicile or at the place as specified in the Articles of Association.

A meeting venue shall be established for the shareholders' general meeting, and meetings will take the form of physical meeting. The Company may use a secure, economical and convenient network or any other means for its shareholders to conveniently participate in such meetings. The shareholders shall be deemed as present when participating in the shareholders' general meeting via the above-mentioned methods.

A shareholder may personally attend the shareholders' general meetings and exercise his right to vote, or may authorize others to attend the meetings on his/her behalf and within the scope of authorization to exercise the right to vote. The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the principal or his/her attorney duly authorized in writing or, if the principal is a legal person or an unincorporated organization, it shall be affixed with the seal of the legal person or unincorporated organization or under the hand of his/her attorney duly authorized.

Article 20 The Board of Directors and other conveners shall take necessary measures to ensure the proper order of the shareholders' general meeting. They shall take measures to stop the conducts that interfere with the shareholders' general meeting, seek trouble and infringing on the legal rights and interests of the shareholders, and report such act to the relevant authorities for investigation.

Article 21 All shareholders recorded in the register as at the shareholding record date or their proxies shall have the right to attend the shareholders' general meeting and exercise the voting rights in accordance with the relevant provisions of laws, regulations, securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed and the Articles of Association.

Article 22 Natural person shareholders attending the meeting in person shall present their corresponding stock account card (if applicable, the same below), personal identity cards or other valid proof or evidence of their identities. Proxies attending the meeting shall present their personal identity cards, originals of the written proxy form and their corresponding stock account card.

Where such shareholder is a recognized clearing house determined by relevant regulations formulated from time to time in Hong Kong (or its nominee), such shareholder shall be entitled to appoint one or more persons as it deems fit to act on its behalf at any shareholders' general meeting or any other class meetings and meeting of creditors, provided in the event of more than one person are authorized, the power of attorney shall specify the number and class of shares represented by each person so authorized. Such persons so authorized shall be entitled to exercise the rights on behalf of the recognized clearing house (or its nominee) without presenting evidence of their shareholding, notarized authorization and/or further proof showing their due authorization) as if they were individual shareholders of the Company, and shall be entitled to statutory rights equal to those of other shareholders, including the right to speak and vote.

A corporate shareholder should attend the meeting by its legal representative or a proxy appointed by the legal representative. The legal representative attending the meeting shall present his/her identity card, valid certificate evidencing his/her capacity as a legal representative and the relevant share certificate; if a proxy is appointed to attend the meeting, the proxy shall produce his/her identity card, the original copy of the written proxy form duly issued by the legal representative of the corporate shareholder (with the seal of the corporate shareholder being affixed thereon) and the relevant share certificate. A corporate shareholder may execute an instrument appointing a proxy by its duly authorized officer.

An unincorporated organization shareholder shall attend the meeting by its responsible person (in case the unincorporated organization shareholder is a partnership, where the executive partner is a natural person, the responsible person shall be its executive partner, where the executive partner is a legal person or an unincorporated organization, the responsible person shall be its appointed representative of the executive partner, the same below) or the proxy appointed by the responsible person. The responsible person attending the meeting shall produce his/her identity card, valid certificate evidencing his/her qualification as the responsible person and the relevant share certificate; if a proxy is appointed to attend the meeting, the proxy shall produce his/her identity card, the original copy of the written proxy form duly issued by the responsible person of the unincorporated organization shareholder (and shall be affixed with the official seal of the unincorporated organization shareholder) and the relevant share certificate.

Article 23 Any shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote at the shareholders' general meeting has the right to appoint one or more persons (who may not necessarily be shareholders) as his/her proxy (proxies) to attend and vote on his/her behalf. The proxy form issued by a shareholder to authorize other persons to attend the shareholders' general meeting shall clearly state the followings:

- (I) The names of the proxies;
- (II) Whether the proxies have the right to vote;

- (III) Instructions to vote for, against or abstain from voting on each of the items in the agenda of the meeting;
- (IV) The signing date and the effective period of the authorization letter;
- (V) Signature (or seal) of the shareholders who appoint the proxies. If the principal is a corporate shareholder or a shareholder who is not separate legal entity, its corporate seal shall be affixed thereto.

Such proxy form shall contain a statement that in absence of instructions by the shareholders, whether his/her proxy may vote at his/her discretion.

Article 24 Where the proxy form is signed by a person authorized by the appointing shareholder, the power of attorney or other documents authorizing such person to sign the proxy form shall be notarized. A notarized power of attorney or other authorization documents, together with the proxy form, shall be lodged at the domicile place of the Company or at other places specified in the notice of meeting.

If the appointer is a corporate shareholder or an unincorporated organization ~~shareholder who is not separate legal entity~~, the legal representative/person in charge or such person who is authorized by the resolution of its Board or other governing body to act as its representative may attend the shareholders' general meeting of the Company.

Article 25 A registration record for attendants at the meeting shall be compiled by the Company. The registration record shall contain items including but not limited to the names of attendants (or names of organizations), identity card numbers, residential addresses, the number of shares held or representing the voting rights and names (or name of organizations) of the proxies.

Article 26 The convener and the legal counsel (if applicable) shall examine legality of the shareholders' qualifications according to the register of members provided by the securities registrations and clearing organizations. The names of shareholders and the number of shares with voting rights shall be registered. The registration at the meeting shall terminate before the chairperson of the meeting announces the number of shareholders and proxies attending the meeting and the total number of the shares held with voting rights.

Article 27 All Directors, ~~supervisors~~ and secretary of the Board of Director shall attend shareholders' general meetings of the Company, and the chief executive officer and other senior management shall be present at the meetings.

Article 28 The shareholders' general meeting shall be presided over by the chairperson of the Board of Directors. When the chairperson of the Board of Directors is unable or fails to perform his/her duty, a Director jointly elected by more than half of the Directors shall preside over the meeting.

If directors elected by half or more members of the Board of Director fail to convene and preside over the shareholders' general meeting, the shareholders' general meeting shall be chaired by a shareholder co-elected by the shareholders attending the meeting. If the shareholder cannot chair the meeting due to any reason, the shareholder (or his proxy) present at the meeting who holds the highest number of voting rights shall chair the meeting.

At a shareholders' general meeting convened by the ~~Supervisory~~Audit Committee, the chairperson of ~~Supervisory Committee~~convener of the Audit Committee shall preside over the meeting. When the ~~chairperson of the Supervisory Committee~~convener of the Audit Committee is unable or fails to perform his/her duty, a ~~supervisor~~member of the Audit Committee jointly elected by more than half of the ~~supervisors~~members of the Audit Committee shall preside over the meeting.

If a shareholders' general meeting is convened by shareholders, the convener shall elect a representative to preside over the meeting.

When a shareholders' general meeting is held, if the chairperson of the meeting violates the rules of procedure, making continuance of the meeting impossible, with the consent of the shareholders holding more than half of the voting rights present at the meeting, the meeting may elect a person to serve as the chairperson of the meeting and the meeting shall continue.

Article 29 At the annual shareholders' general meeting, the Board of Directors ~~and the Supervisory Committee~~ shall make report on their works in the past year to the shareholders' general meeting. Each independent non-executive Director shall also report on their duty performance.

Article 30 The Directors, ~~supervisors~~ and senior management officers shall provide explanations and statements relating to the queries put forward by the shareholders at the shareholders' general meeting.

Article 31 The chairperson of the meeting shall declare the number of attending shareholders and proxies and the total number of shares with voting rights they hold prior to voting. To determine the number of shareholders and proxies present and the total number of shares with voting rights they hold, the meeting register shall prevail.

Article 32 The shareholders' general meeting shall have meeting minutes, and secretary to the Board of Directors shall be responsible for the meeting minutes. The meeting minutes shall contain the following contents:

- (I) the time, venue of, and the agenda for, the meeting, and the name or title of the convener;
- (II) names of the chairperson of the meeting and the Directors, ~~supervisors,~~ chief executive officer, ~~secretary to the Board of Directors~~ and other senior management officers attending the meeting or attending the meeting as non-voting attendee;
- (III) the number of shareholders and proxies present at the meeting, the total number of voting shares held and their respective proportions in the total number of shares of the Company;
- (IV) the consideration process, summaries of speeches and voting result for each proposal;
- (V) the inquiries or suggestions of the shareholders and the corresponding answers or explanations;
- (VI) names of the legal counsel (if any), counting officer and monitoring officer;
- (VII) other contents that should be included in the meeting minutes as required by the Articles of Association.

Article 33 The Directors, secretary to the Board of Directors, convener or their representatives who attended the meeting, and the chairperson of the meeting shall sign the meeting minutes, and guarantee the authenticity, accuracy and integrity of the contents of the meeting minutes. The meeting minutes shall be maintained together with the registration record of the shareholders present, the power of attorney for proxy attendance, and the valid documents relating to the voting over network and other forms of voting for a period of no less than 10 years.

Article 34 The convener shall ensure that the shareholders' general meeting is held continuously until the final resolution is made. If the shareholders' general meeting is suspended or the resolution cannot be made due to force majeure or other special causes, necessary measures shall be taken to resume the shareholders' general meeting as soon as possible or directly terminate the shareholders' general meeting, and ~~an announcement shall be made promptly (as the case may be). At the same time, the convener shall make~~ announcements and/or reports in a timely manner in accordance with laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules, normative documents and securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed.

Article 35 Shareholders shall not be notified at the shareholders' general meetings of any material issues that have not been disclosed.

CHAPTER V VOTING AND RESOLUTIONS AT SHAREHOLDERS' GENERAL MEETINGS

Article 36 Shareholders (including proxies) shall exercise their voting rights by the number of voting shares they represent, and each share shall carry one voting right.

Votes for medium and small investors shall be separately counted when any material matter affecting their interests is considered at the shareholders' general meeting. The results of separate vote counting shall be disclosed publicly in a timely manner according to relevant laws, administrative regulations and securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed.

Shares held by the Company shall not carry any voting right and shall not be counted into the total shares with voting rights represented by shareholders attending the shareholders' general meeting.

The Board of Director, independent non-executive Directors, shareholders holding more than 1% of the voting shares or investor protection agency established in accordance with the laws, administrative regulations or provisions of the CSRC may collect votes from shareholders. Information including the specific voting preference shall be fully provided to the shareholders for whom voting rights are being solicited. Consideration or de facto consideration for soliciting shareholders' voting rights is prohibited. Apart from statutory conditions, ~~t~~The Company shall not impose any minimum shareholding limitation for soliciting voting rights.

Article 37 The resolutions of a shareholders' general meeting are classified into ordinary resolutions and special resolutions. Ordinary resolutions of the shareholders' general meeting shall be passed by votes representing more than half of the voting rights held by the shareholders (including proxies) present at the meeting.

Special resolutions of the shareholders' general meeting shall be passed by votes representing more than two-thirds of the voting rights held by the shareholders (including proxies) who are present at the meeting.

Article 38 The following matters shall be passed by way of ordinary resolution of the shareholders' general meeting:

- (I) work reports of the Board of Directors ~~and the Supervisory Committee~~;
- (II) profit distribution plan and loss make-up plan formulated by the Board of Director;
- (III) appointment or dismissal of the members of the Board of Directors ~~and Supervisory Committee~~, remuneration and payment methods thereof;
- ~~(IV)~~ annual budgets and final accounts of the Company;
- ~~(V)~~ annual report of the Company;
- ~~(VI)~~ resolution on the employment, dismissal of the Company's accounting firm and determination of its remuneration (or determination method);
- ~~(VII)~~ any other matters other than those which are required by the laws, administrative regulations, securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed or by the Articles of Association and these rules to be passed by way of special resolution.

Article 39 The following matters shall be passed by way of special resolution of the shareholders' general meeting:

- (I) the increase or reduction of the Company's registered capital;
- (II) the division, splitting, merger, dissolution and liquidation of the Company;
- (III) the amendment to the Articles of Association;
- (IV) the purchase and disposal of material assets by the Company within one year, or a guarantee amount exceeding 30% of the audited total assets in the most recent period of the Company;
- (V) equity incentive scheme;
- (VI) any other matter as specified by the laws, administrative regulations, securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed and the Articles of Association which, considered by the shareholders at a shareholders' general meeting and resolved by way of ordinary resolution, may have a material impact on the Company and shall be adopted by way of special resolution.

Article 40 Where matters relating to connected transactions are deliberated at the shareholders' general meeting, the connected shareholders shall avoid voting, and the shares carrying the voting rights they represent shall not be counted in the total number of valid votes. The announcement of resolutions of the shareholders' general meeting should fully disclose the voting status of the non-connected shareholders (subject to the request of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange).

Votes for medium and small investors shall be separately counted when any material matter affecting their interests is considered at the shareholders' general meeting. The results of separate vote counting shall be disclosed publicly in a timely manner according to relevant laws, administrative regulations and securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed. Shares held by the Company shall not carry any voting right and shall not be counted into the total shares with voting rights represented by shareholders attending the shareholders' general meeting.

If a shareholder's purchase of the Company's voting shares violates the provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 of Article 63 of the Securities Law, such shares in excess of the prescribed proportion shall not exercise his/her voting rights within the period of 36 months after the purchase, and shall not be counted in the total number of voting shares represented at the shareholders' general meeting.

Article 41 Before the shareholders' general meeting considers matters relating to connected transactions, the Company shall determine the scope of connected shareholders in accordance with relevant laws, regulations, normative documents and securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed. Connected shareholders or their proxies may attend the shareholders' general meeting, and may clarify their views to the shareholders in accordance with the procedures of the meeting.

Where the shareholders' general meeting votes matters relating to connected transactions, connected shareholders shall abstain from voting. If connected shareholders fail to abstain from voting, other shareholders attending the meeting shall have the right to request them to abstain from voting. After connected shareholders have abstained from voting, other shareholders shall vote according to their voting rights and pass the corresponding resolutions in accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association. The chairperson of the shareholders' general meeting shall inform the connected shareholders of the voting avoidance and voting procedures, which shall be recorded in the meeting minutes.

In order to be valid, the resolutions made at the shareholders' general meeting on matters relating to connected transactions shall be passed by more than half of the votes cast by the non-connected shareholders attending the shareholders' general meeting. However, in order to be valid, in the event of such connected transaction involving matters that need to be passed by special resolution as stipulated in the Articles of Association, the resolutions of the shareholders' general meeting must be passed by more than two-thirds of the voting rights held by the non-connected shareholders attending the shareholders' general meeting.

Article 42 The list of candidates for Director ~~and supervisor~~ shall be proposed to the shareholders' general meeting for voting.

The ways and procedures for nominating Directors ~~and supervisors~~ of the Company are:

- (I) When a re-election of the Board of Directors or an additional or replacement of Director made by the Board of Directors takes place, incumbent Board of Directors, ~~Supervisory Committee~~ and shareholders individually or collectively holding 3% or more of voting rights attached to the Company's share may nominate candidates, without exceeding the number of persons to be elected, for the position of Director for the next session of the Board of Directors or additional candidates for the position of Director;
- ~~(II) When a re-election of the Supervisory Committee or an additional or replacement of supervisor made by the Supervisory Committee takes place, incumbent Supervisory Committee, the Board of Directors and shareholders individually or collectively holding 3% or more of the Company's share may nominate candidates, without exceeding the number of persons to be elected, for the position of supervisor for the next session of the Supervisory Committee or additional candidates for the position of supervisor who are not staff representatives;~~
- (III) The shareholders shall provide the Board of Directors ~~and the Supervisory Committee~~ with the resumes and basic particulars of the nominated candidates for the position of Director ~~or supervisor~~. The incumbent Board of Directors ~~and Supervisory Committee~~ shall conduct a review on qualifications. The qualified Directors ~~or supervisors~~ shall be submitted to the shareholders' general meeting for election;
- ~~(IIIIV)~~ At request of the Company, the candidates for the position of Director ~~or supervisor~~ shall undertake to the Company in written form the followings, including but not limited to, agreeing to accept the nomination, undertaking that the information submitted about themselves are true and complete, and warranting that they will duly perform the duties upon successful election.

When election of two or more Directors ~~and non-employee representative supervisors~~ is voted at the shareholders' general meeting, the cumulative voting system can be applied. If Directors will be elected by cumulative voting at the shareholders' general meeting, the voting of independent non-executive Directors and non-independent non-executive Directors shall be conducted separately.

The cumulative voting system referred to in the preceding paragraph means each share shall have the same voting right as the number of Directors ~~or supervisors~~ to be elected, when election of Directors ~~or supervisors~~ is voted at the shareholders' general meeting. The voting right held by shareholders may be used collectively. The Board of Directors shall state the resumes and basic particulars of the candidates for Directors ~~and supervisors~~ to the shareholders.

Article 43 In addition to the cumulative voting system, the shareholders' general meeting shall resolve on all the proposals separately. In the event of several proposals for the same issue, such proposals shall be voted in the order of time when they are submitted. Unless the shareholders' general meeting is suspended or no resolution can be made for special reasons such as force majeure, voting of such proposals shall neither be shelved nor refused at the shareholders' general meeting.

Article 44 No amendment shall be made to a proposal when it is considered at a shareholders' general meeting, otherwise such amendments shall be deemed as a new proposal and shall not be voted at the current meeting.

Article 45 The same voting right can only be exercised in only one form: onsite or otherwise. Where the same voting right is exercised more than once, the voting result of the first time shall prevail.

Article 46 At any shareholders' general meeting, voting shall be conducted by open ballot.

Article 47 Before the relevant proposed resolution is voted on at the shareholders' general meeting, two representatives of the shareholders shall be elected to take part in counting the votes and scrutinizing the conduct of the poll. Any shareholder who is ~~interested~~ inconnected with the matter under consideration and his/her proxy shall not take part in counting the votes or scrutinizing the conduct of the poll.

When votes are cast on proposals at the shareholders' general meeting, related parties appointed pursuant to the Hong Kong Listing Rules, together with the legal counsels (if applicable), representatives of the shareholders ~~and the representative of supervisors~~ shall be jointly responsible for scrutinizing and counting votes and shall announce the voting results at the meeting. The voting result shall be recorded in the meeting minutes.

Shareholders or their proxies, who have cast their votes by online voting or by other means, shall have the right to check the voting results in the way in which they have cast their votes.

Article 48 An on-site shareholders' general meeting shall not end before that held on-line or otherwise, and the chairperson of the meeting shall announce the voting status and results of each proposal and announce whether the proposal is adopted or not based on the voting results.

Prior to the formal announcement of voting results, the relevant parties involved in relation to the on-site voting, on-line or otherwise at the shareholders' general meeting, including the Company, the persons responsible for counting votes and scrutinizing the voting, and the substantial shareholders, shall be obliged to keep the voting status confidential.

Article 49 The shareholders attending the shareholders' general meeting shall express one of the following opinions on the proposal to be voted on: for, against, or abstain. Save for the circumstance under which the securities registration and settlement institution acting as the nominal holder of shares under the mutual stock market access between the Mainland and Hong Kong (if any) makes reporting in accordance with the instruction of the de facto holders of Relevant Shares (if applicable).

A blank, wrongly filled, or illegible vote, or an uncast vote shall be deemed to be a waiver of the voting right of the voter, and the voting result for the number of shares he/she holds shall be accounted as "abstention".

Article 50 If the chairperson of the meeting has any doubts as to the result of a resolution which has been put to vote at the shareholders' general meeting, he/she may have the votes counted. If the chairperson of the meeting has not counted the votes, any shareholder present in person or by proxy who objects to the result announced by the chairperson of the meeting may, immediately after the declaration, demand that the votes be counted, and the chairperson of the meeting shall have the votes counted immediately.

Article 51 Resolutions of shareholders' general meetings shall be announced in a timely manner in accordance with the relevant laws, administrative regulations and securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed. The announcements shall set forth the number of shareholders and proxies present at the meeting, the total number of voting shares held and the proportion to the total number of voting shares of the Company, the voting method, the voting results on each proposal and the details of each of the resolutions passed.

Article 52 Where a proposal has not been passed or the resolutions of the preceding shareholders' general meeting have been changed at the current shareholders' general meeting, special mention shall be made in the announcement of the resolutions of the shareholders' general meeting in accordance with the relevant laws, administrative regulations and securities regulatory rules for the place where the Company's shares are listed.

Article 53 Where proposals on the election of Directors ~~and supervisors~~ are passed at the shareholders' general meeting, the newly appointed Directors ~~and supervisors~~ shall take office at the time specified in the resolutions of the shareholders' general meeting; if the resolutions of the shareholders' general meeting do not set out the term of office, the term of office of a new Director ~~or supervisor~~ shall be the date on which such new Director ~~or supervisor~~ is elected at the relevant shareholders' general meeting.

Article 54 If the shareholders' general meeting passes the proposal on cash dividends, bonus shares or conversion of capital reserve into share capital, the Company shall implement the specific scheme in 2 months after the end of the shareholders' general meeting.

Article 55 If a resolution of the shareholders' general meetings of the Company violates a law or administrative regulation, shareholders have the right to petition People's Court to invalidate the resolution.

The controlling Shareholders and actual controllers of the Company shall not restrict or hinder medium and small investors to exercise voting rights and harm the legitimate rights of the Company as well as medium and small investors.

If the procedure of convening or the method of voting at the shareholders' general meetings of the Company violates the laws, administrative regulations or the Articles of Association, or if the content of a resolution is in breach of the Articles of Association, shareholders shall have the right to petition People's Court to revoke such resolution within 60 days from the date on which the resolution is adopted, unless there is only a slight defect in the procedure of convening or the method of voting at the shareholders' general meetings or Board meetings of the Company, which has no substantive impact on the resolution.

CHAPTER VI IMPLEMENTATION OF RESOLUTIONS

Article 56 The Board of Directors shall be responsible for implementing the resolutions of the shareholders' general meeting and cause such resolutions to be implemented by the management of the Company in accordance with the contents of the resolutions and their functions. ~~Resolutions of the shareholders' general meeting that are determined to be implemented by the Supervisory Committee shall be directly executed by the convenor of the Supervisory Committee.~~

Article 57 The Board of Directors shall report on the implementation results of the resolutions to the shareholders' general meeting. ~~Resolutions which shall be implemented by the Supervisory Committee shall be reported by the Supervisory Committee to the shareholders' general meeting.~~

CHAPTER VII SUPPLEMENTARY PROVISIONS

Article 58 The announcement or notice mentioned in these Rules refer to relevant information disclosure published on the media designated by the CSRC and the securities regulatory authority at the place where the Company is listed. In case of relatively long announcement or notice, the Company may choose to make summary disclosure of the relevant content on the media designated by the CSRC and the securities regulatory authority at the place where the Company is listed, and the full announcement shall at the same time be published on the website designated by the CSRC and the securities regulatory authority at the place where the Company is listed.

The supplementary notice of the shareholders' general meeting in these Rules shall be published on the same designated media as the notice of the shareholders' general meeting.

Article 59 In these Rules, the terms “more than” and “within” shall all include the present figure; the terms “higher”, “lower” and “over” shall all exclude the present figure.

Article 60 The matters not covered in these Rules shall be implemented in accordance with the relevant national laws, administrative regulations, normative documents, the listing rules of the place where the shares of the Company are listed and the Articles of Association.

In case of any contradiction with the requirements under any laws, administrative regulations, normative documents, the listing rules of the place where the shares of the Company are listed and the Articles of Association, those laws, administrative regulations, normative documents, the listing rules of the place where the shares of the Company are listed and the Articles of Association shall prevail.

Article 61 The Board of Director of the Company shall be responsible for the interpretation of these Rules.

Article 62 These Rules are passed at the shareholders' general meeting of the Company and shall be effective and come into force from the date on which the overseas listed shares issued by the Company are listed and traded on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

TYK Medicines, Inc

Set out below in this appendix is the principal terms of the 2025 H Share Incentive Scheme.

(1) PURPOSE OF THE SCHEME

The purpose of the Scheme is to (a) provide the Company with a flexible means of remunerating, incentivizing, retaining, rewarding, compensating and/or providing benefits to Eligible Participants; (b) align the interests of Eligible Participants with those of the Company and Shareholders by providing such Eligible Participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company; and (c) encourage Eligible Participants to contribute to the long-term growth and profits of the Company and to enhance the value of the Company and its H Shares for the benefit of the Company and Shareholders as a whole.

(2) PARTICIPANTS OF THE SCHEME

Eligible Participants who may be granted Awards under the Scheme include (i) any person who is an employee of any member of the Group, including persons who are granted Awards under the Scheme as an inducement to enter into employment contracts with any member of the Group, provided that such person shall not cease to be an employee in the case of (a) any leave of absence approved by the relevant member of the Group; or (b) any transfer of employment amongst members of the Group or any successor, and provided further that such person shall, for the avoidance of doubt, cease to be an employee with effect from (and including) the date of termination of his/her employment, and (ii) any other person as determined to be eligible in the sole and absolute discretion of the Board or the Scheme Administrator.

(3) TOTAL NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE UNDER THE SCHEME

The total number of H Shares which may be subject to Awards granted under the Scheme shall not exceed 2% of the total number of issued Shares of the Company as of the adoption date of the Scheme (the “**Adoption Date**”). The Scheme will be solely satisfied by existing H Shares.

(4) MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH PARTICIPANT

The Scheme does not specify a maximum entitlement for any individual Eligible Participant.

(5) PERIOD WITHIN WHICH SHARE OPTIONS MAY BE EXERCISED

For Awards granted as Share Options, the period during which a vested option may be exercised shall be determined by the Board or the Scheme Administrator but shall not extend beyond 10 years from the grant date of the relevant Share Option.

(6) VESTING PERIOD OF AWARDS

The Board or the Scheme Administrator may, in its absolute discretion, determine the vesting criteria, conditions, and periods for any Award. These terms will be specified in the award letter issued to each Grantee.

(7) AMOUNT PAYABLE ON APPLICATION OR ACCEPTANCE

The Board or the Scheme Administrator may, in its absolute discretion, determine the amount (if any) payable by a Grantee upon application for or acceptance of an Award.

(8) BASIS FOR DETERMINING THE EXERCISE PRICE OR PURCHASE PRICE

The basis for determining the exercise price or purchase price of each award is at the absolute discretion of the Board or the Scheme Administrator.

(9) DURATION

The Scheme shall be valid for a period of 10 years commencing on the Adoption Date (the “**Scheme Period**”). After the Scheme Period, no further Awards may be granted, but the provisions of the Scheme will remain in effect to the extent necessary to give effect to any Awards granted during the Scheme Period that remain outstanding.

(10) ADMINISTRATION

The Board shall be responsible for administering the Scheme in accordance with the Scheme Rules. The authority to administer the Scheme may be delegated by the Board to a committee of the Board or to the Scheme Administrator at the sole discretion of the Board, including its powers to offer or grant awards and to determine the terms and conditions of such awards.

(11) LAPSE, FORFEITURE AND CANCELLATION OF AWARDS

Awards shall automatically lapse, be forfeited, or be cancelled (to the extent not already vested or been exercised) upon the earliest of:

- (i) the Awards failing to vest on its vesting date;
- (ii) the Awards being declined or deemed to have been declined by the Grantee pursuant to the Scheme Rules;
- (iii) the occurrence of an event that triggers a lapse, forfeiture, or cancellation as specified in the Scheme Rules;

- (iv) the Grantee committing a breach of the Scheme Rules;
- (v) the occurrence of any other event specified in the Scheme Rules that triggers a lapse, forfeiture, or cancellation; or
- (vi) the determination by the Board or the Scheme Administrator at any time with the prior consent of the Grantee.

(12) ALTERATIONS AND TERMINATION

The Board or the Scheme Administrator may amend any of the provisions of the Scheme or any Awards granted thereunder at any time. The Board may terminate the Scheme at any time, after which no new Awards may be granted.

NOTICE OF THE SECOND EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING OF 2025

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents of this notice, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this notice.



TYK Medicines, Inc **浙江同源康醫藥股份有限公司**

(A joint stock company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

(Stock Code: 2410)

NOTICE OF THE SECOND EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING OF 2025

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the second extraordinary general meeting of 2025 (the “EGM”) of TYK Medicines, Inc (浙江同源康醫藥股份有限公司) (the “**Company**”) will be held at 8th Floor, Building T2, China Eastern Binjiang Center, No. 277 Longlan Road, Xuhui District, Shanghai, the PRC at 1:30 p.m. on Thursday, October 30, 2025 for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit, passing the following resolutions. Unless otherwise defined, capitalized terms used in this notice shall have the same meanings as those defined in the circular of the Company dated October 14, 2025.

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

1. To consider and approve the proposed amendments to the Rules of Procedure for the Board of Directors.
2. To consider and approve the proposed amendments to the Rules of Procedure for Shareholders' General Meetings.

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

3. To consider and approve the proposed amendments to the Articles of Association and the proposed abolishment of the Board of Supervisors.
4. To consider and approve the proposed adoption of the 2025 H Share Incentive Scheme.

By Order of the Board
TYK Medicines, Inc
(浙江同源康醫藥股份有限公司)

Dr. Wu Yusheng
Chairman, Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
October 14, 2025

NOTICE OF THE SECOND EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING OF 2025

Notes:

1. All resolutions at the EGM will be taken by poll (except where the chairman decides to allow a resolution relating to a procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands) pursuant to the Listing Rules. The results of the poll will be published on the websites of the Company at www.tykmedicines.com and the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk after the EGM.
2. Any shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the EGM convened by the above notice is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote instead of him/her. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.
3. In order to be valid, the instrument appointing a proxy together with the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed, or a notarially certified copy of such power of attorney or authority, must be completed and returned to the H share registrar of the Company, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong (for holders of H shares), at least 24 hours before the EGM (i.e. before 1:30 p.m. on Wednesday, October 29, 2025) or any adjourned meeting thereof. Completion and return of the form of proxy will not preclude a shareholder from attending and voting in person at the EGM or any adjourned meeting thereof should he/she so wish.
4. For the purpose of determining the list of holders of H shares who are entitled to attend the EGM, the H share register of members of the Company will be closed on Friday, October 24, 2025 to Thursday, October 30, 2025 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the EGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the H share registrar of the Company, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, October 23, 2025 for registration.
5. Where there are joint registered holders of any share, any one of such joint holders may vote, either in person or by proxy, in respect of such share as if he/she was solely entitled thereto, but if more than one of such joint holders are present at the EGM, whether in person or by proxy, the joint registered holder present whose name stands first on the register of members of the Company in respect of the shares shall alone be entitled to vote in respect thereof.
6. A shareholder or his/her/its proxy should produce proof of identity when attending the EGM.
7. The EGM is expected to last for no more than half a business day. Shareholders and proxies attending the meeting shall be responsible for their own travel and accommodation expenses.
8. Shareholders may contact the Company at yiting.huang@tykmedicines.com or jiayi.wu@tykmedicines.com for any enquiries in respect of the EGM.

As at the date of this notice, the board of directors of the Company comprises Dr. Wu Yusheng as executive director, Dr. Li Jun, Dr. Gu Eric Hong, Dr. Jiang Mingyu, Mr. He Chao and Dr. Zhu Xiangyang as non-executive directors, and Dr. Leng Yuting, Dr. Xu Wenqing and Dr. Shen Xiuhua as independent non-executive directors.